Modeling Collaboratory for Subduction RCN Megathrust Modeling Workshop Report

Eric M. Dunham¹, Amanda M. Thomas², and Thorsten W. Becker^{3,4}

Contributing authors: Camilla Cattania, Jessica Hawthorne, Judith Hubbard, Gabriel C. Lotto, Jean-Arthur Olive, John Platt

¹Department of Geophysics, Stanford University, Stanford, California, USA (edunham@stanford.edu) ²Department of Earth Sciences, University of Oregon, Eugene, Oregon, USA ³Department of Geological Sciences, Jackson School of Geosciences, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, USA ⁴Institute for Geophysics, Jackson School of Geosciences, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, USA

October 23, 2020



Suggested citation: Dunham, E. M., Thomas, A. M., Becker, T. W., Cattania, C., Hawthorne, J., Hubbard, J., Lotto, G. C.,Olive, J.-A., Platt, J. (2020). *Megathrust Modeling Workshop Report*. Modeling Collaboratory for Subduction RCN. doi:...

Disclaimer: This is a workshop report that has not been peer reviewed.

Summary

The *Planning for a Modeling Collaboratory for Subduction Zone Science* (MCS) Research Coordination Network (RCN) is one of three RCNs funded by the National Science Foundation (NSF) following the 2016 Subduction Zone Observatory (SZO) workshop. The MCS RCN aims to facilitate the development of the integrative earthquake and volcano modeling component of SZ4D, the MCS, and explore how computational approaches and community building can best advance subduction zone systems science. This report documents the excitement and vision of the scientific community as articulated by participants of the October 2019 MCS *Megathrust Modeling Workshop*, with material from this and prior events available on the MCS RCN web site. This report reflects the efforts of the writing committee and input from the community throughout the summer of 2020.

The report begins with a brief overview of the **State of Knowledge** in three main fields comprising megathrust science: 1) dynamic rupture and tsunami, 2) sequences of earthquakes and aseismic slip, and 3) long-term geodynamics and surface processes. The report proceeds to articulate **Outstanding Science Questions** that lie at the boundary of current knowledge. These lines of inquiry will be the focus of much research in the coming years, and they have the potential to significantly advance our understanding of subduction megathrusts and the associated hazards. We are at the verge of fully integrating physics-based models into forecasting and hazard assessment for megathrusts, and working toward that goal will lead to breakthroughs in both fundamental, academic research and societally applied studies.

The report closes by outlining **Recommended Community Actions to Advance Subduction Megathrust Modeling within a Collaboratory** for immediate steps over the next few years. These actions include:

- 1. developing **sustained**, **international**, **distributed**, **and open collaborations** to facilitate comparative analysis, verification, exchange of ideas and knowledge, and joint model development;
- 2. organizing focus groups dedicated to regional laboratories, and case histories of significant earthquakes;
- 3. organizing **focus groups for subsets of megathrust processes,** to document the current state of knowledge, provide guidance for code and workflow development, and provide science focus;
- 4. **integration of modeling efforts with observations and experiments** in a manner that includes transparency of assumptions, data resolution, and joint development of falsifiable hypotheses, in conjunction with the regional laboratories;
- 5. thorough **code benchmarking, verification, and validation** exercises; and
- 6. the **immediate development of three specific models** that would benefit the community:
 - a. a viscoelastic earthquake sequence model with fluid transport;
 - b. a global, 3-D, thermo-mechanical mantle circulation model with two-phase flow;
 - c. a flexible modeling framework for multi-physics, multi-scale modeling including rupture, earthquake cycle, and tectonic time scales.

If pursued further, these community actions will facilitate the next generation of scientific discoveries and physics-based understanding of megathrust systems. These efforts will form a major component of the MCS within the SZ4D effort, and will advance computational geoscience at large.

Table of Contents

Summary	2
Table of Contents	3
Introduction	4
State of Knowledge	5
Dynamic Rupture and Tsunamis	5
Sequences of Earthquakes and Aseismic Slip	7
Long-term Geodynamics and Surface Processes	9
Outstanding Science Questions	11
What are asperities and how do they relate to past and future earthquakes?	11
What is the nature of deformation, structure, and rupture behavior in the toe of the subduction and how do these relate to tsunamigenesis?	ı zone 13
How do different parts of the megathrust interact across space and time?	14
What processes are responsible for deformation below the seismogenic zone?	15
What is the state of stress and pore pressure in and around the megathrust?	17
What is the role of structure, geology, geometry, and rheology in controlling slip behavior?	18
Recommended community actions to advance megathrust modeling within a Subduction Zone Mo	odeling
Collaboratory framework	20
International, distributed collaboration	20
Focus groups for specific regions and case histories of past events	22
Focus groups for specific processes	22
Integration of modeling with observations and experiments	23
Benchmarking, verification, and validation	24
Recommended model development	25
Viscoelastic earthquake sequence model with fluid transport	25
Global, 3-D, thermo-mechanical mantle circulation model with two-phase flow	26
A flexible modeling framework for multi-physics, multi-scale modeling including rupture, earthquake cycle, and tectonic time scales	27
Conclusions	27
References	28
Appendix: Detailed Workshop Information	50
Workshop Participation	50
Workshop Sessions and Presentations	51

Introduction

Subduction zones offer compelling and only partially answered scientific questions about earthquakes and faulting, volcanoes and magma transport, and landscape evolution. Subduction zones also host the largest earthquakes and associated tsunamis on Earth and pose a significant hazard to communities globally.

Over the last decades, fundamental advances in earthquake science have refined our understanding of this most hazardous type of plate boundary. For example, analysis of geodetic and seismic records led to the discovery of slow fault slip that had previously eluded detection. Analysis of data from the M9 2011 Tohoku-oki earthquake and tsunami has led to fascinating insights into pre-, co-, and post-seismic stages of a megathrust event. Advances in the quality and density of global geophysical monitoring networks have led to systematic analyses of large and great earthquakes to determine their overall features, and observations of spatial and temporal behavior of megathrust systems over a significant fraction of the earthquake cycle. These discoveries beget further questions into the nature of subduction megathrusts and the degree to which we can link seismic activity to our understanding of how the stresses that load faults evolve over the wide range of spatio-temporal scales of relevance, from long-term strain partitioning and orogeny to earthquake nucleation, rupture propagation, and tsunamigenesis.

Answering these scientific questions, through the development of predictive modeling tools validated and calibrated against observations, is required to inform governmental agencies and the general public about hazards from earthquakes, tsunamis, volcanic eruptions, and landslides. While subduction zones have been studied for decades, the subduction science community is currently poised for transformative and impactful research advances over the next 5-10 years.

For example, novel offshore instrumentation ranging from seafloor geodesy to cabled sensor networks will constrain fault slip and seafloor deformation before, during, and after earthquakes with unprecedented resolution. Similarly, monitoring and elucidating the causes of volcanic unrest will be facilitated by instrumentation advances in fluid and gas transport measurements, seismology, geodesy, and infrasound, together with laboratory analytical techniques. At the same time, experimental studies on exhumed or in-situ fault zone rocks yielded important insights on material behavior, and those can be incorporated into enhanced, multi-physics numerical models on improved computational platforms.

However, all of these observational and experimental constraints still need to be formally integrated into a consistent mechanical framework, and that integration must occur through data-centric, multi-scale numerical modeling, taking into account uncertainties. Megathrusts are one example where computation has to be the complement to observational and laboratory approaches to arrive at a more complete understanding of system dynamics. Such integrative modeling has long been discussed, but we are now poised to make good on this promise of computational geoscience (e.g., Lapusta et al., 2019; NASEM, 2020).

The MCS RCN *Megathrust Modeling* workshop, which convened at the University of Oregon in October of 2019, focused on assessing the critical aspects of fault system dynamics within long-term plate tectonic loading, earthquake sequences and aseismic slip, and megathrust rupture dynamics that should be included in the future integrative community modeling framework for subduction zones.

The meeting brought together a diverse group of international scientists at various career stages to identify the disconnects and knowledge gaps that should be targets for future research efforts, and to distill potential new approaches for collaborative megathrust modeling within an MCS. The meeting objectives were to

- identify the thermo-mechanical processes at different temporal and spatial scales that are critical to subduction megathrusts;
- determine the disconnects among models of different scales and/or mechanisms, and the knowledge and implementation gaps among modelers and their algorithms;
- synthesize and direct existing efforts toward building a new modeling framework for faulting, earthquake sequences and aseismic slip, and megathrust rupture dynamics modeling for subduction zones; and
- explore what theoretical developments and constraints would be needed to interpret sensor network data streams for time-dependent, physics-based hazard assessment.

The meeting laid a foundation for development of a community plan for an integrative modeling framework and community building for the above problems and, from a megathrust perspective, further solidified a vision for the MCS within SZ4D and the wider community. This report outlines that vision.

We briefly discuss the **State of Knowledge** in the three main fields comprising megathrust science: 1) dynamic rupture and tsunamis, 2) sequences of earthquakes and aseismic slip, and 3) long-term geodynamics and surface processes. We then proceed to address **Outstanding Science Questions** that are at the current frontiers of knowledge and targets for future scientific advances. Lastly, we outline a set of **Recommended Community Actions** to further advance the state of knowledge in these areas.

State of Knowledge

1. Dynamic Rupture and Tsunamis

Most, though not all, deformation at plate boundaries is accommodated by slip across relatively narrow shear zones known as faults. The largest faults on Earth are found in subduction zones, making them the source of Earth's largest earthquakes and significant hazard. Megathrust earthquake ruptures initiate as frictional instabilities and propagate as wave-mediated stress transfer drives progressive reduction of frictional strength and slip along the megathrust interface. Slip occurs at a fast sliding velocity, typically > 1 m/s, arising from the rapid reduction of the frictional strength, or weakening, of the fault. Strength reduction at these fast slip velocities is widely seen in laboratory friction experiments, and inferred to occur in nature, due to the velocity-dependence of the friction coefficient or other weakening processes like thermal

pressurization of pore fluids (Goldsby & Tullis, 2002, 2011; Andrews, 2002; Di Toro et al., 2004, 2006, 2011; Rice, 2006; Beeler et al., 2008; Noda et al., 2009; Brantut et al., 2010; Noda & Lapusta, 2010, 2013; De Paola et al., 2011; Brown & Fialko, 2012). Wave-mediated stress transfer leads to rupture propagation at speeds approaching or exceeding the seismic shear wave speed (Andrews, 1976; Freund, 1979, 1998; Rice, 1980).

Subduction megathrusts are complicated faulting environments, particularly in the shallow region near the trench (e.g., Hyndman et al., 1997; Hubbard et al., 2015). The shallow dip of megathrusts enhances rupture and wave interaction with the free surface, producing shear and normal stress changes along the fault that can facilitate rupture growth toward the surface (Oglesby et al., 1998; Duan & Oglesby, 2005; Ma & Beroza, 2008; Duan, 2012; Huang et al., 2012; Kozdon & Dunham, 2013; Galvez et al., 2014; Gabuchian et al., 2017). This shallow region also often features splay faults that might be activated during megathrust ruptures (Park et al., 2002; Strasser et al., 2009), raising questions regarding controls on rupture path selection through branched fault geometries (DeDontney & Hubbard, 2012).

In addition, the material and frictional properties of sediments that typically comprise this shallow region are strikingly different from those of materials deeper along the megathrust. Slip often localizes within velocity-strengthening clays (Saffer & Marone, 2003; Ikari et al., 2009; Faulkner et al., 2011). Elastic moduli and wave speeds are greatly reduced (Kitajima et al., 2012; Jeppson et al., 2018), which generally enhances slip and reduces rupture velocity (Ma & Beroza, 2008; Lotto et al., 2017, 2018). It is also possible that this region experiences inelastic deformation during great earthquakes (Ma, 2012; Ma & Hirakawa, 2013; Ma & Nie, 2019); however, whether that inelastic deformation takes the form of distributed plastic strain or is instead localized as slip on splays and other structures remains unclear.

Dynamic rupture modeling permits investigation of all of these questions, but the utility and relevance of such models hinges on the assumptions and inputs to the models: structure and geometry, material properties and rheology (elastic and inelastic), stresses and pore pressure, and the friction law and other processes governing fault strength evolution (Harris et al., 2018; Erickson et al., 2020). One the one hand, large-scale structure and geometry can be constrained from seismic imaging close to the level of detail required for many aspects of dynamic rupture applications, whereas fault-zone scale structures are poorly constrained. On the other hand, stresses and pore pressure are more challenging or, at many depths, impossible to directly measure, so must be determined indirectly, including through modeling of the system over long time scales.

Modeling at the earthquake cycle time scale of hundreds to thousands of years, accounting for aseismic and slow slip as well as past earthquakes, can account for stress redistribution and connect to geodetic and related constraints on fault locking and slip history (Li & Liu, 2016; Gallovič et al., 2019; Hirahara & Nishikiori, 2019; see also next section on *Sequences of Earthquakes and Aseismic Slip*). In order to constrain pore pressure, it is necessary to model fluid production and migration over these time scales (Wada & Karlstrom, 2020; Petrini et al., 2020), and link imaging

to mechanical models. In addition, constraints on the tectonic stress state and pore fluid pressure likely require models that span geological time scales (1 to 10 Myr) over which the geometry and structure of the subduction zone evolve (e.g., van Dinther et al., 2013; Menant et al., 2019; Brizzi et al., 2020; Muldashev & Sobolev, 2020). Characterizing the rheology of the off-fault material and fault friction requires a combination of laboratory experiments (on either cores from drilling or exhumed subduction faults), understanding the geological context, and theory and modeling.

Slip and deformation during megathrust earthquakes, particularly in the region near the trench, control seafloor uplift and hence tsunami generation (Tanioka & Satake, 1996; Satake, 2015; Saito, 2019). Tsunami propagation in the offshore region is well understood, as is the tsunami-generating ocean response to seafloor uplift. However, several challenges and opportunities remain for improved tsunami hazard characterization and utilization of tsunami data to constrain the earthquake source. Foremost among these is better understanding of shallow rupture processes (i.e., activation of splays, the occurrence of plastic strain, and the importance of heterogeneous elastic properties) and accounting for these processes in the workflows that couple earthquake source models to tsunami models (e.g., Saito et al., 2019; Madden et al., 2019; Ulrich et al., 2019). Most current workflows utilize approximations, such as static solutions to fault slip in a uniform elastic half-space, that were sufficient in the past when data were limited. However, the growing availability of high-quality offshore data in and around the source region motivates revamping these workflows by relaxing these approximations (Saito and Kubota, 2020).

2. Sequences of Earthquakes and Aseismic Slip

Faults accommodate deformation with a variety of different mechanisms that vary in space and time. Slip phenomena outside earthquake rupture, which include transient creep, slow slip, and afterslip, are characterized by slip velocities one or more orders of magnitude larger than the plate convergence rate, but still far smaller than inertially limited slip velocities ~1 m/s characteristic of seismic ruptures (Ide et al., 2007; Peng & Gomberg, 2010; Burgmann, 2018). Because transient slip phenomena occur over significantly longer timescales than typical earthquakes, they are often either partly or completely aseismic in that they either produce no detectable seismic radiation, or their seismic manifestation is depleted in high-frequency content (i.e., > 1 Hz) relative to typical earthquakes. These transient slip events occur frequently in subduction zones around the globe and documenting their spatial and temporal properties has been the focus of much study in the last two decades (Obara, 2002; Rogers & Dragert, 2003; Beroza & Ide, 2011; Obara & Kato, 2016; Burgmann, 2018, Behr & Burgmann, 2020).

Afterslip is a widely observed form of aseismic slip that occurs when the region surrounding intermediate to large magnitude earthquakes is loaded by coseismic stress changes (Smith and Wyss, 1968; Marone et al. 1991; Miyazaki et al. 2004; Hsu et al. 2006; D'agostino et al. 2012; Wallace et al. 2018; Alwahedi & Hawthorne, 2019). The region hosting afterslip experiences transiently accelerated sliding which gradually decelerates as slip relaxes stress. The observed time dependence of afterslip is generally consistent with strength change being proportional to the logarithm of slip velocity, as is commonly observed in laboratory friction experiments and

described in the framework of rate-and-state friction with velocity-strengthening character (Marone et al. 1991; Kato & Hirasawa, 1997; Scholz, 1998; Liu & Rice, 2007). While regions participating in afterslip are generally thought to be spatially exclusive of coseismically slipping regions, additional studies with high spatial resolution are required to rule out the possibility that a given fault patch could participate in both coseismic slip and afterslip (Johnson et al., 2012).

Transient slow slip events on subduction megathrusts can be quasiperiodic and are commonly found below the seismogenic zone. In some locations, they also occur in the shallow region near the trench, or can even be interleaved with seismic patches. Slow slip events exhibit a great diversity of slip rates, propagation speeds, and recurrence intervals (Schwartz and Rokosky, 2007; Beroza and Ide, 2011; Burgmann, 2018). They can be modulated by relatively small stress changes such as those from solid Earth tides and are thought to occur in environments with nearly lithostatic pore fluid pressure (e.g., Shelly et al. 2007; Audet et al. 2009; Thomas et al. 2009; Kitajima & Saffer, 2012; Hawthorne & Rubin, 2013; Burgmann, 2018). Slow slip is often accompanied by seismic tremor, thought to reflect the collective seismic expression of many low frequency earthquakes (Shelly et al., 2006, 2007; Rubinstein et al., 2008), events that are slower than typical earthquakes, but still capable of producing measurable seismic radiation. The causal relationship between tremor and slow slip is still uncertain (Bartlow et al., 2011; Villafuerte & Cruz-Atienza, 2017). Transient slow slip events require some weakening mechanism to initiate and accelerate sliding, but without the fault reaching slip speeds of typical earthquakes. Several mechanisms that reproduce this general behavior have been proposed but which, if any, of these best represents the range of observable slow slip phenomena is still debated.

Models that reproduce this behavior have 1) incorporated frictional constitutive relations that are rate-weakening at low slip rates and rate-strengthening at high slip rates (e.g., Shibazaki & lio, 2003; Hawthorne & Rubin, 2013), 2) included heterogeneity such as mixtures of rate-weakening and rate-strengthening and/or viscous materials (e.g., Skarbek et al., 2012; Tong & Lavier, 2018; Goswami & Barbot, 2018), 3) called upon dilatancy to stabilize slow rupture (e.g., Segall et al., 2010), and 4) appealed to a characteristic length scale to stabilize rupture (e.g., Liu & Rice, 2007; Rubin, 2008). Others have suggested the possibility of fluid flow and/or pore pressure transients (Skarbek & Rempel, 2016; Warren-Smith et al., 2019), sometimes coupled with fault slip (Garagash, 2012; Zhu et al., 2020). The slow slip problem has also been approached from the geologic perspective through studies that document the geologic environs of slow slip and tremor (e.g., Fagereng et al. 2014, Saffer & Wallace, 2015; Platt et al., 2018; Kotowski & Behr, 2019; Behr and Burgmann, 2020). These studies document deformation mechanisms, lithologies, and conditions that have only begun to be explored within the modeling community. Clearly, formulating falsifiable hypotheses for slow slip and testing them through the integration of modeling and observations (both geophysical and geologic) is of fundamental importance for understanding slip behavior in subduction zones.

The spatial and temporal history of fault slip undoubtedly influences the location, timing, and size of future earthquakes. As such, models that simulate the behavior of fault systems over many earthquake cycles, which include periods of slow tectonic loading and aseismic slip, earthquake

nucleation, coseismic rupture, afterslip, and postseismic relaxation processes are essential to understanding the behavior of subduction megathrusts and the variety of aforementioned slip behaviors (Rice, 1993; Lapusta et al., 2000; Shibazaki & lio, 2003; Hori et al., 2004; Liu & Rice, 2005, 2007; Lapusta & Liu, 2009; Matsuzawa et al., 2010; Noda & Lapusta, 2010, 2013; Kaneko et al., 2011; Barbot et al., 2012; Segall & Bradley, 2012; Hashimoto et al., 2014; Cubas et al., 2015; Li & Liu, 2016; Noda et al., 2017; Barbot, 2018; Shibazaki et al., 2019; Erickson et al., 2020).

There are many exciting applications of earthquake cycle models to subduction systems. For example, in most subduction settings, the time period over which high resolution geophysical measurements are available is short relative to a typical megathrust earthquake recurrence interval and we are afforded only snapshots of slip behaviors in time. Earthquake cycle models provide powerful tools to understand how the variety of slip behaviors interact in space and in time, redistribute stress along subduction megathrusts, and set initial conditions for hazard-scale earthquakes over much longer time periods. Additionally, using earthquake cycle models to determine initial conditions for dynamic rupture would obviate the artificial prescribing of prestress conditions and ad-hoc rupture initiation practices commonly employed in dynamic rupture models (Harris et al., 2018; van Zelst et al. 2019; Erickson et al. 2020; Muldashev & Sobolev, 2020).

In summary, a rich variety of slip behaviors are known to operate on global subduction megathrusts. Continued observations of these phenomena combined with earthquake sequence modeling will undoubtedly lead to new insights into the nature of faults. A modeling collaboratory could provide the framework for such integration across regional natural laboratories.

3. Long-term Geodynamics and Surface Processes

The large-scale structure of subduction zones evolves at time scales from tens of thousands to millions of years, affecting slab geometries and subduction speeds, and in the process forming faults, building topography, and fluxing fluids and melts. This dynamic system sets the deviatoric stress, dynamic pressure, mineralogy, and pore fluid conditions that control earthquake and fault slip. A complete understanding of the dynamics of subduction thus involves huge spatio-temporal scales. It is often challenging to confidently isolate parts of the system for study since our understanding of the physics of the interactions between processes pertaining to different scales is still incomplete. However, we have made great progress in our understanding over the last decades, and a range of coupled models (e.g., between surface mass transport and long-term subduction) and integrated inversions (e.g., mantle wedge rheology consistent with long-term flow and post-seismic relaxation) are being explored.

On the longest time scales, subduction has controlled planetary evolution through a process similar to the current style of plate-tectonics for at least 1 Gyr, and likely much longer. Arc systems are the major sites of continental crust formation within thermo-chemical mantle convection, and subducting plates make up the major plate driving force. Recycling of oceanic plates affects volatile fluxes, including the carbon cycle, and subduction dynamics affects the distribution of economically relevant mineral deposits along with the most dangerous volcanic systems.

In each subduction zone, the plate tectonic setting controls the state under which the shallow wedge, the seismogenic zone, the shear zone further downdip, and the deeper slab-mantle wedge interface operate (e.g. Arcay et al., 2007; Wada & Wang, 2009; Syracuse et al., 2010; England & Katz, 2010). Most straightforward to analyze are the instantaneous parameters of convergence rate and plate age, the product of which (the thermal parameter) governs the thermal state of a subduction interface, to first order (e.g., England & Wilkins, 2004; van Keken et al., 2011; Maunder et al., 2019). Basic differences in the type of megathrust state are a result of this thermo-kinematic setting (e.g., Wada & Wang, 2009; Abers et al., 2017; Sun et al., 2018; Brizzi et al., 2020, Muldashev & Sobolev, 2020). However, we now understand that there are a number of complexities that lead to fluctuations in fault loading and must thus be considered.

For example, the 3-D, regional setting of a subduction zone with transiently evolving, possibly irregular slab geometries will affect advective transport of heat, leading to along-strike variations of wedge temperature (e.g., Kincaid & Griffith, 2004; Wada et al., 2015; Morishige & van Keken, 2017; Ji et al., 2017; Plunder et al. 2018). Any adjacent slabs will further modify the mantle flow field in the mantle wedge, along with rheological feedbacks mediated by fluid transport (e.g., Billen & Gurnis, 2001; Arcay et al., 2005, 2007; Honda & Yoshida, 2005; DeFranco et al., 2008; Zhu et al., 2009; Wada et al., 2012; Barbot, 2018; Holt et al., 2018). As a consequence the volatile, grain-size and partial melt state of the wedge affect rheology, which in turn affects dynamic pressure, and hence stress transfer and therefore the spatial distribution of slow slip and other megathrust systematics, for example.

Thanks to geophysical imaging, we have some handle on the along-arc distribution of lithospheric density and thickness anomalies underneath the subducting and overriding plate in some regions. Those are additional sources of fault stresses that are not part of simple tectonic loading. For example, the resulting forces due to overriding and subducting plate structure and fluid distributions may lead to variations in along-strike coupling and mantle-flow-induced changes of surface topography (e.g., Wiens et al., 2008; Becker et al., 2015; Martin-Short et al., 2015; Zhou et al., 2018; Gao, 2018; Bodmer et al., 2020). Such effects need to be better understood, and then corrected for, for example in order to arrive at better models of regional, visco-elastic megathrust earthquake cycles as constrained by geodetic and geological constraints on vertical motions (e.g., Wesson et al., 2015; Hashima & Sato, 2017; Delano et al., 2017; Johnson & Tebo, 2018; Govers et al. 2018; Li et al., 2018; Jolivet et al., 2020).

Subduction trenches are often not stationary in a lower mantle fixed reference frame, but are rather advancing or retreating over Myr scales, with possible consequences for fault loading and the stress state of the plate boundary (e.g., Jarrard, 1986; Garfunkel et al., 1986; Otsuki, 1989; Conrad et al., 2004; Heuret & Lallemand, 2005; Alpert et al., 2010; Alisic et al., 2012; Heuret et al., 2012; Holt et al., 2015; Brizzi et al., 2018). Determining trench motions and slab dip evolution requires an understanding of global mantle circulation and regional slab interactions (e.g., Alisic et al., 2012; Gerault et al., 2012; Rudolph and Zhong. 2014), and geodynamic models can now resolve

such interactions at regionally relevant scales (e.g., Alisic et al., 2010; Jadamec et al., 2013; Jadamec 2016; Ghosh et al., 2013, 2019; Osei Tutu et al., 2018).

On comparable geological time scales, strain accumulation at convergent margins involves the coupled problem of surface evolution and mantle dynamics. For example, erosion of topography associated with plate collision and the resulting variation in the effective near-surface normal stress will affect exhumation of the lower crust and the degree to which a given fault's orientation remains mechanically efficient (e.g., Olive et al., 2014; Ueda et al., 2015). Such effects will interact with asperity dynamics and the variations in seismicity as expected from topographic roughness and sediment supply on the incoming plate (e.g., Uyeda, 1982; Ruff & Kanamori, 1983; Cloos & Shreve, 1996; Heuret et al., 2012; Fujie et al., 2013, 2020; Wang & Bilek, 2014; Bassett & Watts, 2015; Han et al., 2017; Wallace, 2020).

Moreover, the sediments from eroded topography at a convergent margin may locally deposit on the convergent plate, where, upon subduction, they can affect the wedge stress and pressure regime, as well as the effective shear stress on the deeper shear zone. Along with the topographic load, the latter may co-determine plate speed, which in turn controls accumulation rate of sediments (e.g., Currie et al., 2007; Meade & Conrad, 2008; Behr & Becker, 2018; Sobolev & Brown, 2019). Such important feedbacks between long-term convection, tectonics, surface processes, and fault loading can now be explored with coupled geodynamic models. For example, sediment transport and wedge dynamics may lead to changes in slab dip, megathrust geometry, and hence seismic moment release (Brizzi et al., 2020; Muldashev & Sobolev, 2020).

Particularly for the time evolution of the subduction-arc system, it is thus crucial to incorporate constraints from geology and petrology. Those can make sure that any geophysically determined model of present-day margin mechanics and fault loading is consistent with the transport of mass and energy that are implied by the long-term system evolution, along with the constraints on rheology provided by rock mechanics experiments and field observations.

Outstanding Science Questions

Given the current state of knowledge and the progress in observational, laboratory, and modeling work which we can expect over the next decade, we proceed to identify a few key questions that can serve to catalyze a range of research efforts. While the Catalyzing Opportunities for Research in the Earth Sciences (CORES) report asks the most general question, *What is an earthquake?* (NASEM, 2020), we ask the following more detailed questions in the context of the megathrust component of the MCS:

1. What are asperities and how do they relate to past and future earthquakes?

The concept of seismic asperities describes heterogeneities of the subduction zone interface and their relationship with earthquake occurrence (Lay & Kanamori, 1981). From the seismological point of view, asperities determine the rupture extent of megathrust earthquakes; geodetically,

they appear as regions with high coupling between major earthquakes. Therefore, in its simplest form, the asperity model relates the extent of past and future earthquakes to present day geodetic locking. However, recent observations have proven that the two do not always coincide. Earthquakes can sometimes rupture a fraction of previous ruptures or locked areas (e.g., Avouac et al., 2015; Schurr et al., 2014; Melgar et al., 2017) or break through regions that had been assumed to be creeping or experiencing slow slip (e.g., Simons et al., 2011; Noda & Lapusta, 2013, Lin et al. 2020). Moreover, locking patterns are not always stationary: geodetic studies in Japan (Johnson et al., 2016) and Kamchatka (Bürgmann et al., 2005) have inferred a reduction of the locked area with time. To explain these discrepancies between geodetic and seismic asperities, we need to understand how they arise from underlying heterogeneities in friction/rheology, geometry, and/or stress and pore pressure; numerical simulations play a vital role in this effort, as illustrated below.

Among the hypothesized explanations for asperities are frictional or rheological heterogeneities, such as velocity-weakening seismic patches embedded in an otherwise velocity-strengthening creeping fault (Chen & Lapusta, 2009; Dublanchet et al., 2013; Barbot, 2019; Cattania & Segall, 2019), and geometrical heterogeneities, such as subducted seamounts and other structural complexities (Cloos, 1992; Scholz & Small, 1997; Bangs et al., 2006; Watts et al., 2010; Wang & Bilek, 2011; Duan, 2012; Kopp, 2013; Wang & Bilek, 2014; Bletery et al., 2016; Hubbard et al., 2016; Kyriakopoulos & Newman, 2016; Collot et al., 2017; van Rijsingen et al., 2018). Of course, it is possible that frictional/rheological heterogeneities might be directly coupled to geometrical heterogeneities (Sagy & Brodsky, 2009; Wang & Bilek, 2011). For example subducted seafloor relief influences erosion and transport of fluid-rich sediments (Cloos, 1992; Scholz & Small, 1997; Bangs et al., 2006), and sediments and high pore pressures are often correlated with stable sliding.

In the frictional hypothesis, such asperities can, if large enough, rupture partially during earthquakes; in this case the extent of a seismic rupture is not determined by underlying frictional heterogeneity, but by prestress conditions that vary with time (e.g.,Barbot, 2019; Cattania, 2019). Rate-and-state asperities can also exhibit a reduction of the locked area between earthquakes (Chen & Lapusta, 2009; Barbot, 2019; Cattania & Segall, 2019). However, for this mechanism to explain observations on larger megathrust asperities would require nucleation lengths on the order of tens of kilometers, a possibility that is inconsistent with laboratory experiments and contradicted by the occurrence of small earthquakes in these areas. Thermal pressurization of pore fluids has been proposed as a mechanism to explain the propagation of seismic ruptures into regions that had been thought to be creeping, such as the near-trench region in the 2011 Tohoku-oki event (Noda & Lapusta, 2013; Noda et al., 2017; Shibazaki et al., 2019). This mechanism also predicts a reduction of locked areas across the seismic cycle (Jiang & Lapusta, 2016; Mavrommatis et al., 2017), without requiring unrealistically large nucleation lengths.

Alternatively, asperities may result from heterogeneities in fault structure and geometry. Many have argued for the important role of subducted seamounts and other seafloor bathymetric features in altering how sediments are transported and distributed along the plate interface (Cloos, 1992; Scholz & Small, 1997; Bangs et al., 2006). Seamounts, bends, and other geometrical features also introduce stress concentrations that might either facilitate or inhibit slip, or even

cause yielding and inelastic deformation off of the main plate interface (Wang & Bilek, 2011, 2014; Bletery et al., 2016; Hubbard et al., 2016).

Numerical modeling across the full range of length and time scales, from long-term geodynamical modeling that explores the evolution of roughness and geometry to earthquake sequence and dynamic rupture modeling to determine the nature of deformation and slip, will help us better understand the nature of asperities.

2. What is the nature of deformation, structure, and rupture behavior in the toe of the subduction zone and how do these relate to tsunamigenesis?

Seismic reflection images of the accretionary prism in the frontal parts of subduction zones demonstrate that slip on the megathrust is transferred over geological time scales into fault-related shortening of the hanging wall. The frontal thrusts of these systems can be assumed to be active, and while many landward splay faults have been oversteepened or refolded and abandoned, others, like the Nankai megasplay, appear to continue to host seismic slip events (e.g., Park et al., 2002; Miura et al., 2005; Moore et al., 2007; Hubbard et al., 2015; Han et al., 2016). Because the frontal parts of subduction zones are far from land-based sensors, most geodetic networks are relatively insensitive to slip in these regions, and many coupling inversions have suggested that the faults there are continuously creeping (e.g., Loveless and Meade, 2010, 2011; Wang & Trehu, 2016). Recent physics-based modeling, however, has shown that this area is in the stress shadow of down-dip locking zones and therefore must slip more sporadically, either during earthquakes or in the post-seismic period (Almeida et al., 2018). This new perspective amplifies the need to understand this region and its potential to generate earthquakes and associated tsunamis. It also highlights the importance of combining geological and geophysical studies with mechanical modeling.

The soft muds of this frontal region are likely to have distinctly different material and seismic properties than the more consolidated rock further downdip (e.g., Saffer & Marone, 2003; Ikari et al., 2009; Faulkner et al., 2011; Kitajima et al., 2012; Jeppson et al., 2018). As yet, we do not fully understand whether earthquakes can initiate, how slip propagates, and how seismic radiation is emitted within this region, and examples of earthquakes where we can sufficiently resolve slip in the updip section of the megathrust (e.g., 2010 Mentawai, Hill et al., 2012) remain rare.

One hint at seismic slip in this region is the occurrence of so-called "tsunami earthquakes," which generate larger tsunamis than can be readily explained by the earthquake magnitude as estimated from standard seismic wave analysis (Kanamori, 1972). These earthquakes are characterized by low rupture speeds and are believed to occur in the frontal sections of the megathrust (Pelayo & Weins, 1992; Bilek & Lay, 2002; Lay et al., 2007). Tsunami energy is a function of the square of the height of the wave, integrated over the area of the wave, and thus more focused uplift over a smaller area (as is expected due to slip on steeply dipping thrusts and associated off-fault deformation) should produce a more energetic wave than the broad zone of uplift above a deeper, low angle décollement. However, narrower seafloor uplift patches will also be damped by the

water column (Kajiura, 1963). Tsunami generation is further complicated by the fact that typical empirical relationships between seismic slip and magnitude may not hold in the soft sediments within the accretionary prism.

Resolving these questions is complicated by the fact that it is difficult to access these regions far from shore. A large slip event within the accretionary prism would likely produce measurable kinematic deformation, seismic waves, and ocean waves, but because these events are rare it is unlikely that such signals will be captured without broad instrumentation of large areas of subduction zones. Nevertheless, recent physics-based modeling of fault coupling, off-fault deformation, and tsunami has proven promising and can provide more guidance on what types of signals might be most useful for understanding the deformation processes in this region.

3. How do different parts of the megathrust interact across space and time?

Subduction zones accommodate deformation through a variety of mechanisms, and numerous studies have demonstrated significant interaction between slip phenomena in space and time, including intriguing observations of precursory seismicity and deformation prior to megathrust events (e.g., Kato et al., 2012; Ito et al., 2013; Ruiz et al., 2014; Obara & Kato, 2016; Soquet et al., 2017; Pritchard et al., 2020). Observations of these interactions place constraints on the nature of heterogeneity of the megathrust system, thereby offering a means to test hypotheses regarding asperities, segmentation, and the processes that determine whether deformation is accommodated aseismically or in hazardous earthquakes.

Several recent studies have pointed to intriguing spatial and temporal relationships between coseismic slip, afterslip, and transient creep (e.g., Rolandone et al., 2016). Regions hosting slow slip and tremor often abut those known to slip coseismically (e.g., Nishikawa et al., 2019), possibly suggesting fixed rheological, frictional, and/or geometric controls on deformation style. However, there is some evidence of regions that host slow slip overlapping with regions that slip coseismically (Lin et al. 2020). Other examples of spatial interactions include model predictions and/or observations of stress transfer from repeated slow slip events onto regions capable of hosting large megathrust earthquakes (e.g., Uchida et al., 2016, Cruz-Atienza et al., 2020), slow slip events evolving into megathrust earthquakes (Segall & Bradley, 2012), and coseismic slip penetrating into regions known to host slow slip (Noda & Lapusta, 2013; Ramos & Huang, 2019; Lin et al. 2020). Slip behaviors also have temporal relationships that vary throughout the seismic cycle. Afterslip and postseismic relaxation are well-known phenomena that relieve stress imparted by coseismic slip on the adjacent regions. Slow slip transients and foreshock sequences have either been observed or inferred prior to several significant events, including the 2011 Mw 9.1 Tohoku-Oki earthquake (e.g., Kato et al., 2012; Ito et al., 2013) and 2014 Mw 8.1 Iquique, Chile, earthquake (e.g., Ruiz et al., 2014; Brodsky & Lay, 2014; Soquet et al., 2017). Apparent changes in coupling have also been observed during the interseismic period (e.g., Mavrommatis et al., 2014; Yokota & Koketsu, 2015; Socquet et al., 2017; linuma, 2018; Materna et al., 2019).

Understanding how seemingly disparate parts of the megathrust interact in space and time and which underlying processes are responsible for these interactions is an outstanding challenge that is best addressed using a combination of observations and modeling. Longer duration geophysical observations that sample progressively larger fractions of the megathrust earthquake cycle will soon be available and should provide insight into slip behaviours in multiple subduction zones. These records can be used to better understand the processes responsible for triggering. It is well known that static and dynamic stress transfer drive earthquake interactions, but the specific mechanisms responsible for triggering (e.g., elastic stress transfer, triggered creep, pore fluid diffusion, etc.) have not yet been thoroughly explored or validated against observations. The next decade holds much excitement with the advent of new offshore observational capabilities that will constrain and guide model development and understanding. Seafloor geodesy (Bürgmann & Chadwell, 2014), ocean bottom seismometer and pressure sensor networks (Toomey et al., 2014; Kawaguchi et al., 2015; Nishikawa et al., 2019), repeat bathymetry surveys (Fujiwara et al., 2011), scientific drilling (Tobin & Kinoshita, 2006; Wallace et al., 2019), and additional novel technologies like fiber distributed acoustic sensing (Lindsey et al., 2019; Sladen et al., 2019) will permit a new understanding of structure and deformation behavior, including slow slip transients, across the full seismogenic zone including the region near the trench. This shallow region, which in some subduction zones hosts slow slip (Saffer & Wallace, 2015), is the likely target of focused instrumentation efforts in the near future.

If sufficient progress in understanding spatial and temporal relationships among distinct parts of the megathrust can be made, it may be possible to incorporate that information into time-dependent hazard assessments. Such assessments could combine information from various sensor networks to identify slip behaviors in real time and quantify associated hazards through a physics-based modeling framework.

4. What processes are responsible for deformation below the seismogenic zone?

Seismologists generally treat the subduction zone interface in the seismogenic zone as a discrete slip surface; the transition into aseismic behavior at depths of 30-50 km is analyzed in terms of changes in frictional behavior, such as a change to velocity-strengthening friction during slip (e.g., Hyndman et al., 1997). The geological evidence from rocks exhumed from depths of 40 km or more on sediment-rich convergent margins suggests that rather than a discrete slip surface, the subduction zone interface may transition into a shear zone or subduction channel, within which deformation is largely ductile (e.g., Gerya et al., 2002; van Dinther et al., 2013; Behr et al., 2018; Platt et al., 2018; Behr & Burgmann, 2020). Figuring out how to incorporate such brittle-ductile interactions into mechanical frameworks of plate boundary deformation, either through approximations or direct micromechanical modeling, is a major challenge.

On sediment-rich margins the subduction channel may be several kilometers thick (perhaps up to 10 km), and may host a zone of return flow, driven either by buoyancy or by the arc-trench topographic gradient (e.g., Gerya et al., 2002). Sedimentary rocks in the subduction channel appear to deform predominantly by pressure-solution creep, at differential stresses less than 20

MPa (e.g. Wassmann & Stockhert 2013; Fagereng & den Hartog, 2017; Platt et al., 2018; French & Condit, 2019). If ductile flow is able to accommodate the relative plate motion, a discrete slip surface may not be present. In contrast, in sediment-starved margins, where basaltic oceanic crust comes in contact with the subduction zone interface, a full transition to ductile shear may not take place until ~80 km depth.

The deep transition zone from seismic slip to aseismic creep appears to be one of the main source regions for slow slip and tremor, and as such is both enigmatic and of particular interest. Several processes have been suggested to explain these phenomena, nearly all of which call on fluid pressures approaching or even in excess of lithostatic (Liu & Rice, 2005, 2007; Segall et al., 2010; Hawthorne & Rubin, 2013). This is supported by geologic observations on rocks from this region, which show abundant evidence for hydraulic fracturing in the form of dilational veins and microscale fractures filled with quartz, calcite, and other minerals. Accumulating evidence that tremor may be triggered or at least modulated by tides, teleseismic earthquakes, and possibly even changes in atmospheric pressure, suggests very low effective stress and hence very low shear stress, on the order of tens to hundreds of kPa (Shelly et al., 2007; Rubinstein et al., 2008; Thomas et al., 2009; Hawthorne & Rubin, 2010). Processes invoked to explain tremor and slow slip are reviewed in the *Sequences of Earthquakes and Aseismic Slip* section of the **State of Knowledge**.

These hypothesized processes can be tested against geophysical observations. We can, for example, assess the range of slip rates predicted by each of these models and how those slip rates depend on event size. Slow earthquakes appear to have slip rates that range from 100 nm/s to 1 mm/s, and the largest-scale trend among the events observed to date implies that smaller slow earthquakes are faster (Ide et al, 2007). We can also assess the range of material properties that allow for slow earthquakes in each of these hypotheses. Transient aseismic slip occurs on a wide range of faults and depths, suggesting that a wide range of material properties and conditions allow for slow earthquakes (Rubin, 2008; Yabe & Ide, 2017). We can assess the detailed response of slow earthquakes to tidal loading and distant seismic waves. Tremor and slow slip appear to respond differently to shear and normal stresses (Miyazawa & Brodsky, 2008; Thomas et al, 2012). Lastly, we can attempt to identify the source of slow earthquakes' spatial and temporal complexity. Some observations and models suggest that spatially varying material properties control slow earthquakes' increasing and decreasing slip rates, but some variations could arise simply from stochastically varying stress fields (Chestler & Creager, 2017; Ide & Maury, 2018).

Thus far, however, we have not identified which, if any, of the proposed models are correct, making it difficult to use slow earthquake observations to infer properties of plate interfaces at depth. All of the proposed slow earthquake mechanisms have at least a few unknown parameters, so in order to test geologically motivated models with geophysical observations we need to integrate a range of observations. This sort of approach has allowed us to eliminate some proposed models, at least in their simplest form (e.g., Liu & Rice, 2009; Hawthorne & Rubin, 2013), but to really identify the deformation processes active during aseismic transients, we must think deeply about the proposed processes and consider a large number of geological and geophysical

observations. Moreover, we need to formulate and then test comprehensive mechanical models incorporating available constraints and possible constitutive laws.

5. What is the state of stress and pore pressure in and around the megathrust?

How is the megathrust loaded? What controls fault motion across spatio-temporal scales? Can we broadly validate and generalize the constitutive laws describing frictional, plastic, and viscous deformation, and how plate boundary systems transition in a geologically heterogeneous setting?

The state of stress and pore pressure are of central importance in controlling fault strength, slip behavior, and deformation in subduction zones (e.g., Brodsky et al., 2020). Except in shallow regions accessible by drilling, stress and pore pressure are impossible to directly measure and hence must be constrained indirectly, including seismologically (e.g., Shebalin & Narteau, 2017; Warren-Smith et al., 2019) and from exhumed paleo-subduction interfaces (e.g., Behr &Burgmann, 2020). Seismically determined focal mechanisms can be used to infer stress orientations, and changes in orientation after megathrust events have been used to place some constraints on the absolute stress level (e.g., Hasegawa et al., 2011; Hardebeck, 2012, 2015; Hardebeck & Okada, 2018). Except in these exceptional cases, absolute stress is poorly constrained from observations and must be inferred from modeling efforts. These models range from critical wedge solutions and their relatives (e.g., Dahlen, 1990; Wang & Hu, 2006) to complex geodynamic models (e.g., Mannu et al., 2016; Brizzi et al, 2020; Muldashev & Sobolev, 2020), both of which predict ambient stress levels, to earthquake sequence models (see the Sequences of Earthquakes and Aseismic Slip section of the State of Knowledge) that predict earthquake cycle loading, unloading, and stress transfer between various parts of the megathrust system.

The stress state is intimately connected to rheology, which controls viscous flow below the brittle-ductile transition and inelastic yielding above it. Furthermore, rheology often changes within fault zones due to localization, grain-size reduction, foliation, presence and flow of fluids, and other processes that alter the composition and properties of materials. An outstanding challenge from the modeling perspective is to determine a self-consistent constitutive law that explains and predicts system behavior over a wide range of time scales, from the longest geologic scales that determine the structure, geometry, and loading of the subduction zone to the shortest scales of earthquake cycles and dynamic rupture. While some new efforts are bridging these time scales (e.g., van Dinther et al., 2013; Sobolev & Muldashev, 2017; Tong & Lavier, 2018; Barbot, 2018; Herrendörfer et al., 2018), many challenges remain due to incomplete representations and numerical implementations. For example, geodynamic models often use strain-weakening (or similar) bulk plasticity formulations to create localized deformation features that are identified as faults, whereas earthquake sequence and dynamic rupture models are based on friction laws relating shear and normal tractions on pre-existing and often planar fault interfaces.

Furthermore, friction and flow processes are influenced by the presence of pore fluids, which alter deformation behavior through both mechanical and chemical processes. Pore fluid pressure enters

through the effective stress principle (e.g., Hubbert & Rubey, 1959; Hirth & Beeler, 2015; Beeler et al., 2016) and is determined by fluid production rates as well as transport pathways and properties. The deformation processes that create and maintain fault zones also influence permeability and fluid transport properties (e.g., Caine et al., 1996; Evans et al., 1997; Faulkner et al., 2010). Modeling efforts that explicitly account for fluid production and migration, with coupling to mechanical deformation and fault slip, are needed to advance the field. The field is currently taking steps in this direction (e.g., Skarbek & Rempel, 2016; Cruz-Atienza et al., 2018; Zhu et al., 2020; Petrini et al., 2020).

6. What is the role of structure, geology, geometry, and rheology in controlling slip behavior?

What are the links between structural and seismic heterogeneity, and what sorts of geological and geophysical constraints on structure and composition and stress/temperature/pressure state, on what scale, are needed to predict the extent of future ruptures? How does the system evolve over geologic time?

The essence of a friction-based description of megathrusts is that slip will occur when the shear stress resolved on the plate interface exceeds a threshold proportional to the effective normal stress. In the widely used framework of rate-and-state friction (Dietrich, 1979; Ruina, 1983), the sliding velocity and hold-time dependence of friction can be parameterized by the experimentally-determined parameters *a*, *b*, and d_c (Marone, 1998). Their values and thus the stability of slip depends on lithology, pressure, and temperature, which provides a first-order framework for aseismic to seismic slip transition at a megathrust (e.g., Scholz, 1998; Rice et al., 2001; Saffer & Marone, 2003). Frictional dynamics also depends on the effective normal stress (e.g., Liu & Rice, 2007) and elastic properties, and the rate-state parameters may also themselves depend on slip velocity (Im et al., 2020). Of course, that dependence might be more naturally captured in alternative friction formulations, such as those based on micromechanical models (e.g., Den Hartog & Spiers, 2014; Ikari et al., 2016; Van den Ende et al., 2018).

Numerical models also show that slip behavior can be influenced by off-fault plasticity (Andrews, 2005; Templeton & Rice, 2008; Dunham et al., 2011; Gabriel et al., 2013) and coseismic damage (Thomas et al., 2016). Recent work further suggests that stress interactions within a dense fault network can make a nominally unstable fault experience slow slip (Romanet et al., 2018). The seismogenic behavior of a megathrust is therefore likely to be influenced by the structural, stress, and damage state of the overlying forearc and underlying slab. Novel modeling frameworks are needed to assess the relative effects of each of the aforementioned processes and their possible interactions. An outstanding question is whether heterogeneities primarily represent rheological variability of fault rocks or structural complexities in the near/off-fault domain.

The next generation of models should also account for the nonplanar geometry of real megathrusts (e.g., Hubbard et al., 2016; Dal Zilio et al., 2019), as fault geometry strongly modulates the shear and normal components of stress resolved on individual fault patches. High-resolution geophysical

imaging will be needed to resolve these geometrical complexities and characterize the damage state of the off-fault domain.

The stress state of a subduction zone can be thought of as the sum of a visco-elastic cycle component of sometimes unsteady interseismic loading, coseismic unloading (e.g., Kanamori, 1986; Dmowska et al., 1988; Saffer & Tobin, 2011; Hardebeck & Okada, 2018; Warren-Smith et al., 2019) and transient relaxation (e.g., Wang & Hu, 2006; Wang et al., 2012; Hu et al., 2016; Loveless & Meade, 2016; Freed et al., 2017) and a background, convective and plate tectonic loading stress, which reflects a complex visco-elasto-plastic deformation history (e.g., Brizzi et al., 2020; Muldashev & Sobolev, 2020). Understanding both contributions, and how they are possibly coupled, is essential to assess the failure potential of a megathrust.

While the visco-elastic cycle component can be reasonably well characterized through modeling of geodetic observations (e.g., Wang et al., 2012), the tectonic contributions and the context for the cycle models require a broad understanding of the long-term evolution of the subduction system. These include changes in slab dip and position like slab retreat (e.g., Lallemand & Heuret, 2005; Cerpa et al., 2013; Holt et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2017; Bercovici et al., 2019; Alsaif et al., 2020; Oryan & Buck, 2020), flexure of the downgoing plate (e.g., Buffett, 2006; Babeyko and Sobolev, 2008; Kanda & Simons, 2010; Capitanio et al., 2009), transport of sediments (e.g., Cloos, 1982; van Huehne et al., 2004; Currie et al., 2007; Malatesta et al., 2013), building of topography (e.g., Gerbault et al., 2009; Tan et al., 2012; Avouac, 2015; Bassett & Watts, 2015), partitioning of deformation in the upper plate, 3-D geometry of flow in the mantle wedge (e.g., Behn et al., 2007; Kneller & van Keken, 2008; Hasenclever et al., 2011; Morishige & Honda, 2013), and potential slab tears (e.g., Yoshioka & Wortel. 2005; Andrews & Billen, 2009; Hale et al., 2010; van Hunen & Allen, 2011; Duretz et al., 2013; Menant et al. 2016). A promising path to better characterizing these phenomena is the joint use of geodynamic modeling employing laboratory and geological constraints as well as geophysical imaging from seismology and electromagnetic-magnetotelluric methods to constrain long-term mantle flow and its impact on megathrust stress.

Understanding the connection between short-term and long-term deformation at subduction zones could unlock new constraints on the seismogenic behavior of megathrusts. Subduction landscapes and seascapes, which reflect the net contribution of thousands of seismic cycles on time scales of 10–1000 kyr, are likely influenced by the geometry of repeated ruptures and geological processes not directly linked to earthquake activity (e.g., Avouac, 2015). Models that couple tectonic and surface processes are an avenue to disentangle the various contributions to the morphology of an active margin (e.g., Ueda et al., 2015; Mannu et al., 2016), and can possibly invert landscape features for key unknowns such as the persistence of heterogeneities over many cycles.

Recommended Community Actions to advance megathrust modeling within a Subduction Zone Modeling Collaboratory framework

The scientific objectives of the Modeling Collaboratory for Subduction Zone Science (MCS) should involve developing a new generation of general, cross-scale numerical modeling tools for hypothesis testing, as well as specific regional implementations that can fully incorporate geological and geophysical constraints.

An MCS could form a major, integrative component of SZ4D, and turn out to be crucial for cross-validation of diverse observations for an integrative physical theory of earthquake occurrence. Within the context of computational solid Earth geoscience, the MCS could interface well with other community initiatives such as the Computational Infrastructure for Geodynamics (CIG) or Community Surface Dynamics Modeling System (CSDMS), where CIG/CSDMS would focus more on general tools, computing access, and training, and the MCS on science-driven code development and collaborative science.

Fully understanding the subduction system in this way must involve international collaboration. Moreover, in many cases, the optimal approaches to these challenging modeling problems are yet unknown, and regional models will only have predictive power if their ingredients are well benchmarked and validated by global, comparative analysis first. The MCS would thus have a global outlook, focusing on open subduction zone earthquake science collaboration. These goals imply that large-scale, distributed, and collaborative code development and benchmarking will have to play a prominent role in any such collaboratory, alongside community science exchange and training efforts.

Besides the general, methodological approach to subduction zone science, we suggest that a two-pronged approach with dedicated working groups could provide a complementary framework for how to best realize such efforts and how to most productively collaborate between modelers, experimentalists, and observationalists: one centered around regional laboratories and case histories and a second focused on specific processes.

Some of the guiding principles for a modeling collaboratory and concrete next steps are briefly explored further below:

1. International, distributed collaboration

Regional, along-margin variations in the megathrust setting, such as seafloor topography and sediment load, and variations in megathrust seismic and tectonic behavior provide important clues for the processes controlling megathrust dynamics. However, no single regional realization can provide the parameter variations that are needed to robustly and comprehensively quantify the spectrum of megathrust behavior in a predictive sense, even if that one subduction zone were optimally instrumented.

Moreover, different subduction zones are in various stages of their earthquake and volcanic cycles, providing a range of important, but incomplete, windows into system behavior. The need for comparative analysis and verification alone motivates a collaborative and international approach to subduction zone science. Moreover, the diversity of scientific cultures, approaches, and viewpoints that the international community provides is another crucial contribution that can potentially accelerate our efforts toward understanding megathrust behavior. By proceeding jointly, international communities can leverage one another's efforts and complement each other's strengths.

A number of international communities have, for example, been at the forefront of imaging and instrumenting convergent margins for decades. Japan is one example, where extensive on- and offshore seismological imaging and dense onshore geodetic and seismic networks were complemented by seafloor acoustic GPS campaigns, offshore drilling, and now two permanent seafloor seismological and pressure sensor networks. These datastreams are being complemented by renewed efforts for integrative numerical modeling (including in a monitoring context), as well as efforts to utilize the biggest supercomputers for such initiatives.

New Zealand, Chile, and Costa Rica are other subduction zones where much is known geologically and geophysically, and major event sequences can teach us about intra-cycle dynamics such as stress transfer, earthquake triggering, and slow slip. These are just some examples of how existing and growing international observatories supplement whatever major investments the U.S. might commit to in the future, along with our existing and ongoing initiatives in constraining margins such as Cascadia and Alaska.

Any future subduction systems research will therefore have the highest likelihood of achieving transformative results if we can establish modeling and collaboration frameworks that can draw upon open exchange of data and best practices from subduction zone scientists internationally. A Modeling Collaboratory can, in turn, provide the tools that can bridge heterogeneous sensor data streams and probabilistic hazard assessment or early warning for operational observatories. For those observatories in their planning phases, the modeling framework can be used for optimal experimental design, such that observations can be made where and when they are likely to lead to the maximum knowledge gain and uncertainty reduction.

Perhaps more importantly, aside from joint models and exchange of data, there is a clear need to continue to expand collaborational capacity among scientists internationally. This has to involve collaboratively training the new generation of interdisciplinary scientists by means of shared educational and mentoring activities. A Modeling Collaboratory can help with all of these efforts, and form a platform for international collaboration, providing not just the framework for data-integrative, physics-based hazard assessment, but also the venue for academic, industry, and government agency discourse as to the modeling and monitoring of subduction zones. International workshops, summer schools, hackathons, and regional study groups are just some examples of how a Modeling Collaboratory could play a central role in international collaboration.

2. Focus groups for specific regions and case histories of past events

Focusing model deployment on a few selected regions and bringing in case histories of event sequences can provide guidance for code and workflow development, help facilitate and accelerate international collaboration, and, of course, serve to answer key science questions.

Possible regional sites could include Japan (Nankai Trough and Japan Trench), New Zealand (Hikurangi Trench), Cascadia, Chile, and Costa Rica. When taken as a set, these margins span a range of tectonic conditions (e.g., sediment coverage and seafloor topography). They are also relatively well characterized seismologically and geologically, and have observational networks consisting of land-based seismometers and GNSS stations, as well as varying degrees of offshore instrumentation.

Comparative analysis between the most complete margin models that we might be able to build can serve to explore global processes (e.g., control of pressure and temperature on slow vs. seismic slip from consistent geodynamic background models). However, regional models should also consist of an assembly of all available constraints on structure and dynamics (e.g., locking estimates) which can be interpreted with different mechanical models and numerical tools for benchmarking efforts, and in order to better understand the role of boundary and initial conditions. Particular efforts should be dedicated to using these test cases to distill places of agreement or disagreement as to best practices and core physics ingredients.

Alongside geographically defined natural laboratory focus sites, a Modeling Collaboratory should also consider megathrust event sequences, recorded in both the instrumental and paleoseismologic records. Major events can allow us to study perturbations in the subduction system, including triggering of both seismic and slow slip events, postseismic response, and other system dynamics including potential tectonic precursors. Focus events could include the 2011 Mw 9.1 Tohoku-oki, 2016 Mw 7.8 Kaikoura, 2012 Mw 7.6 Nicoya, and 2014 Mw 8.2 Iquique earthquakes. Closely comparing results can provide the basis for consensus approaches, reference models, and evaluation of uncertainties from data and theory.

The Modeling Collaboratory could support regional and event focus groups in a number of ways, including workshops, sustained electronic collaboration, benchmarking exercises, and database repositories of a reference set of constraints for inversion exercises, as well as workflows showcasing modeling tools as applied to community test cases.

3. Focus groups for specific processes

Complementing efforts focused on specific regions are efforts that focus on processes that are common to most or all subduction zones. These efforts could take the form of small workshops or, for sustained effort, focus groups that might work for several years, meeting virtually and/or in person to accomplish a specific goal. There are many processes for which understanding could be

advanced in this manner, such as the first four Science Questions from the previous section. Integration and consistency across disciplines is of fundamental importance, but here the efforts would also benefit from comparing and contrasting observations and modeling studies across multiple subduction zones.

As one example, consider focused attention to Science Question 2 on understanding deformation and rupture behavior in the shallow subduction toe. A great diversity of geometries, faulting styles, and stress and pressure states exist as a consequence of variations in sediment input, convergence rate, plate age, and tectonic history. Only by studying multiple examples, some featuring slip to the trench and others not, some involving splay fault activation and others not, etc., will we identify the controls on shallow rupture behavior. Likewise, focusing on Science Question 3 on interactions might involve a concerted effort to translate hypotheses regarding the nature of asperities and interactions between regions of slow slip and seismic behavior into models that make testable predictions. These predictions can then be compared to observations, particularly those that have been and will be made in the offshore region.

Community efforts of this sort can focus attention on gaps in knowledge, critical observational constraints, and modeling needs that can drive the alignment of future research projects with funding to advance the field. There are clear ties with the regional focus groups where the process-focused products and hypotheses can be tested, but a focus on process is helpful when designing and creating the numerical tools needed to understand the physics. Focus groups could be expected to closely interact with any computational and programming efforts.

4. Integration of modeling with observations and experiments

Better integration of modeling efforts with both the observational and experimental communities is critical to advancing our understanding of subduction zone processes and hazards. This integration necessitates iterative communication between observationalists, experimentalists, and modelers (recognizing that many individuals practice more than one discipline).

At the interface between the modeling and observational communities, subduction zone science would benefit from modelers better highlighting which observations could be used to validate or falsify proposed mechanisms for observed phenomena. Observationally, there needs to be more emphasis on making meaningful observations, potentially ones that inform proposed mechanisms, as opposed to simply more observations of phenomena that have been otherwise well documented. Also, more transparency surrounding the limitations of observations (i.e., uncertainties, reliability, importance, etc.) is needed, and often this requires viewing the parameters constrained by observation in a dynamical modeling context.

Observational efforts in the coming decade will likely focus on the offshore region that has previously been challenging to instrument and monitor. Such efforts already underway in Japan, New Zealand, and Cascadia, for example, have uncovered a great diversity of slip and deformation behaviors, including shallow slow slip events, deformation transients, repeating earthquakes, and

foreshocks that in some cases might even be precursors to megathrust events. Other studies highlight complex interactions between slow slip and earthquakes. High-resolution constraints on slip, locking, and seismicity patterns, and how those change in time due to interactions, will allow modelers to test hypotheses for the nature of asperities and the role of frictional, rheological, and geometrical controls on slip behavior across the seismogenic zone and below it. Collaborative design of instrumentation involving modelers and observationalists will benefit both communities.

Experimentally, there are only limited results on materials and at conditions thought to be important for subduction zones. These noteworthy data gaps must be filled if we are to understand certain parts of the subduction system. For example, the modeling community would benefit from having more experimental data corresponding to lithologies thought to occupy the deep (i.e., >10 km) portions of subduction megathrusts at the appropriate pressures, temperatures, and hydrothermal conditions. There have been few experiments that have measured frictional properties at pressures above 300 MPa and no experiments at the relevant pore fluid pressures. This is problematic because pressure dependence at these conditions may become nonlinear and the effective stress law may no longer be valid at conditions near the brittle-ductile transition. Additionally, intrinsically weak materials often comprise shallow subduction environments (the accretionary wedge and shallow thrust). A better understanding of friction and dynamic weakening mechanisms that operate in these environments is needed to understand shallow megathrust faulting and tsunamigenesis.

We anticipate that the workshops and focus groups described in Community Actions 2 and 3 will facilitate interaction between the relevant communities.

5. Benchmarking, verification, and validation

The Modeling Collaboratory can also play a leading role in vetting research codes through code comparison (i.e., benchmarking) efforts as well as code verification and validation. Similar efforts by the Southern California Earthquake Center (SCEC)'s Dynamic Rupture Code verification group over the past decade were instrumental in building confidence in several dynamic rupture codes and their outputs (e.g., rupture and slip history, strong ground motion seismograms), understanding the problem-specific strengths and weaknesses of various numerical methods, and pushing modelers to include additional processes (e.g., plastic yielding of fault-bordering rocks, dynamic weakening) as their importance became recognized by the community.

More recent efforts at SCEC have transitioned toward validation of ground motion modeling using dynamic rupture models and verification of earthquake sequence modeling codes (through the Sequences of Earthquakes and Aseismic Slip verification group). In the long-term geodynamics community, a range of influential benchmarks have likewise been conducted for kinematic mantle wedge problems and large-scale subduction dynamics over the last decades. However, similar community-level code comparison efforts have never before been attempted for subduction megathrust problems, which potentially have to cross spatio-temporal scales as well as consider complex and coupled physics, such as fluid-solid interactions.

The unique structure of subduction zones (e.g., shallowly dipping faults adjacent to a water-covered seafloor, huge contrasts in materials properties across the plate interface, splay faulting) offers many modeling complications that challenge dynamic rupture and earthquake sequence simulation codes. It is imperative to gauge the accuracy and validity of various codes and numerical methods for subduction problems. These activities are best carried out by the small group of modelers who design and use these codes. In-person or virtual workshops to plan new benchmarks and review results from previous benchmarks will be required, along with web-hosted platforms for visualizing and comparing simulation results from multiple groups that are uploaded in a common file format.

6. Recommended model development

The Megathrust Modeling workshop illuminated several opportunities for advancing modeling capabilities by development of new models that either bridge time scales previously relegated to separate models or integrate processes in a novel manner. Several of these opportunities are highlighted below. These models are within reach over the next years and can provide guidance for more ambitious, later models in a regional observatory context:

a. Viscoelastic earthquake sequence model with fluid transport

One major need for subduction megathrust and fault slip modeling is an earthquake sequence model that accounts for viscoelastic flow at depth as well as fluid transport and pore pressure evolution. Current earthquake sequence models for subduction zones, with a few exceptions, employ elastic half-space boundary element solutions for stress transfer together with rate-and-state friction. These models are widely used to study and interpret slow slip behavior and to explore the relation between frictional and strength heterogeneities and the style of fault slip (i.e., the nature of asperities).

However, current models generally neglect viscoelastic deformation at depth, despite evidence of its occurrence from geodetic studies of postseismic and interseismic deformation as well as laboratory experiments. Viscoelasticity is undoubtedly important in controlling stress transfer and interaction between nearby parts of the megathrust, and is also of fundamental importance in determining the nature of shear deformation in the deep aseismic continuation of the plate boundary below the seismogenic zone.

In addition, most current models simply assume a fixed pore pressure (or effective normal stress) distribution along the plate interface and neglect poroelastic effects within the fault zone and surrounding bulk. The opportunity here is to introduce a fluid transport model, with evolving pore pressure, permeability, and storage properties, that self-consistently predicts fault slip and pore pressure. Subduction zones are well known locations of dehydration reactions and vigorous fluid transport (as compared to continental faults), making them obvious targets for the development of coupled models. Viscoelasticity and

fluids are also coupled, as pores and fluid-filled cracks at depth will creep closed to equilibrate fluid pressure and mean stress. Thus a poroviscoelastic rheology will be required. This new class of models will be essential to properly explore several hypothesized explanations for slow slip events and aseismic slip.

The models can also be used to investigate interactions between frictionally and/or rheologically distinct portions of the subduction zone, as well as the role of structural and geometrical complexities. What controls segmentation? What are asperities? Are regions currently exhibiting different slip behaviors fixed in space and time or can the slip behaviors vary in response to stress changes and fluid interactions? Under what conditions are hazardous earthquakes preceded by precursory deformation transients, slow slip events, and/or foreshock sequences? These questions can best be addressed in models that account for additional processes than are captured in most current codes.

One can envision many complementary uses for such a model. First, it can be used in idealized geometries and set-ups to explore processes and the coupling between fluids, deformation, and slip. Second, it can be used in realistically complex geometries and set-ups to connect with observational constraints from specific regions. Finally, such a model could be used to explore the processes accommodating stress relaxation (e.g., afterslip) after large earthquakes. These complementary uses echo our recommendations for focus groups organized around both specific regions and processes. For regional studies, it is essential to account for complex geometries and material properties as constrained by seismic imaging and other geophysical methods, frictional and flow properties from drilling and experimental studies of exhumed analogs, and constraints on loading from crustal deformation.

b. Global, 3-D, thermo-mechanical mantle circulation model with two-phase flow

Megathrust systems respond to plate tectonic forcing as part of mantle convection, and in recent years we have seen progress in estimating the related deviatoric stresses, pressures, and temperatures that serve to load faults and set the tectonic environment in which they operate. The MCS should provide a consistent modeling framework to estimate these parameters, with the goal to dynamically and consistently match kinematic constraints (e.g., global plate motions including trench advance and retreat) and provide estimates of wedge conditions - including deviatoric stress, pressure and temperature - that are consistent with regional constraints such as heat flow.

Besides fault loading conditions, a mantle circulation model can also provide predictions of dynamic topography and uplift rates which are important for the interpretation of geodetic vertical, and long-term topographic loads. Such a unified flow model has not been constructed yet on a global scale and would pose a number of challenges, but seems within reach given improved seismological constraints on upper mantle structure, advances in our understanding of mantle rheology, and increased computational capacity.

In a second step, such a model could include two-phase flow transport and fractionation (melting) of the mantle wedge and slab, which would expand the range of predictions to the long-term transport of fluids, petrological signatures in arc volcanism, and links between dehydration reactions and seismicity within a consistent, long-term context.

c. A flexible modeling framework for multi-physics, multi-scale modeling including rupture, earthquake cycle, and tectonic time scales

A number of groups have recently presented numerical models which seek to bridge the time scales over which different processes operate within a subduction zone. Such models can provide many insights, e.g., linking between the viscoelastic earthquake cycle, the distribution of rheological properties on the megathrust and deeper shear zone, and the response of the fault system overall, including the formation of topography and the partitioning of deformation in the accretionary wedge. Such models also have the potential to test if any fault constitutive law or rheology of the mantle wedge is consistent with the long-term evolution of subduction zones, how seismic and geodetic asperities relate and co-evolve, etc. Integrated models can thus bridge scientific efforts with the model development in the previous two subsections a) and b), and can serve to explore two-way coupling, rather than just, say, prescribing loading stresses from b) for earthquake sequence or dynamic rupture modeling from a).

While there are promising algorithmic approaches in the works, it is still debated how to deal with some aspects of the related multi-scale problem. An MCS might therefore benefit from supporting a flexible framework of codes or a toolkit to allow for implementation of alternative physical descriptions. Existing software frameworks such as Fenics/Firedrake could be used to assemble a set of benchmarked reference implementations and allow experimenting with different solution approaches, and ways to implement the physics.

Conclusions

The earthquake science community is poised to make major advances toward understanding megathrust systems in the next 5-10 years. Utilizing experimental and observational results to their fullest potential necessitates the development of physics-based modeling tools that make predictions about system behavior and can be used to develop a more complete understanding of the physical processes that operate in subduction zones and their interaction. Here, we have described the current state of knowledge surrounding subduction zones, identified areas that lie at the boundary of that knowledge, and listed a set of community actions that will advance subduction zone science. A Modelling Collaboratory would provide the organizational and computational tools required to complete these recommended actions catalyzing future scientific discovery and increasing resilience of the communities affected by these dynamic systems.

References

Abers, G. A., Van Keken, P. E., & Hacker, B. R. (2017). The cold and relatively dry nature of mantle forearcs in subduction zones. Nature Geoscience, 10(5), 333-337.

Alisic, L., Gurnis, M., Stadler, G., Burstedde, C., Wilcox, L. C., & Ghattas, O. (2010). Slab stress and strain rate as constraints on global mantle flow. Geophysical Research Letters, 37(22).

Alisic, L., Gurnis, M., Stadler, G., Burstedde, C., & Ghattas, O. (2012). Multi-scale dynamics and rheology of mantle flow with plates. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 117(B10).

Almeida, R., Lindsey, E. O., Bradley, K., Hubbard, J., Mallick, R., & Hill, E. M. (2018). Can the updip limit of frictional locking on megathrusts be detected geodetically? Quantifying the effect of stress shadows on near-trench coupling. Geophysical Research Letters, 45(10), 4754-4763.

Alpert, L. A., Becker, T. W., & Bailey, I. W. (2010). Global slab deformation and centroid moment tensor constraints on viscosity. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 11(12).

Andrews, E. R., & Billen, M. I. (2009). Rheologic controls on the dynamics of slab detachment. Tectonophysics, 464(1-4), 60-69.

Alsaif, M., Garel, F., Gueydan, F., & Davies, D. R. (2020). Upper plate deformation and trench retreat modulated by subduction-driven shallow asthenospheric flows. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 532, 116013.

Alwahedi, M. A., & Hawthorne, J. C. (2019). Intermediate-Magnitude Postseismic Slip Follows Intermediate-Magnitude (M 4 to 5) Earthquakes in California. Geophysical Research Letters, 46(7), 3676-3687.

Andrews, D. J. (1976). Rupture velocity of plane strain shear crack, Journal of Geophysical Research, 81(32), 5679-5687.

Andrews, D. J. (2005). Rupture dynamics with energy loss outside the slip zone. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 110(B1).

Andrews, D. J. (2002). A fault constitutive relation accounting for thermal pressurization of pore fluid. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth*, *107*(B12), ESE-15.

Arcay, D., Tric, E., & Doin, M. P. (2005). Numerical simulations of subduction zones: Effect of slab dehydration on the mantle wedge dynamics. Physics of the Earth and Planetary Interiors, 149(1-2), 133-153.

Arcay, D., Tric, E., & Doin, M. P. (2007). Slab surface temperature in subduction zones: Influence of the interplate decoupling depth and upper plate thinning processes. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 255(3-4), 324-338.

Audet, P., Bostock, M. G., Christensen, N. I., & Peacock, S. M. (2009). Seismic evidence for overpressured subducted oceanic crust and megathrust fault sealing. Nature, 457(7225), 76-78.

Avouac, J. P., Meng, L., Wei, S., Wang, T., & Ampuero, J. P. (2015). Lower edge of locked Main Himalayan Thrust unzipped by the 2015 Gorkha earthquake. Nature Geoscience, 8(9), 708-711.

Avouac, J. P. (2015). From geodetic imaging of seismic and aseismic fault slip to dynamic modeling of the seismic cycle. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, 43, 233-271.

Barbot, S. (2018). Asthenosphere flow modulated by megathrust earthquake cycles. Geophysical Research Letters, 45(12), 6018-6031. https://doi.org/10.1029/2018GL078197.

Babeyko, A. Y., & Sobolev, S. V. (2008). High-resolution numerical modeling of stress distribution in visco-elasto-plastic subducting slabs. Lithos, 103(1-2), 205-216.

Bangs, N. L., Gulick, S. P., & Shipley, T. H. (2006). Seamount subduction erosion in the Nankai Trough and its potential impact on the seismogenic zone. Geology, 34(8), 701-704.

Barbot, S. (2019). Slow-slip, slow earthquakes, period-two cycles, full and partial ruptures, and deterministic chaos in a single asperity fault. Tectonophysics, 768, 228171.

Barbot, S., Lapusta, N., & Avouac, J. P. (2012). Under the hood of the earthquake machine: Toward predictive modeling of the seismic cycle. Science, 336(6082), 707-710.

Bartlow, N. M., Miyazaki, S. I., Bradley, A. M., & Segall, P. (2011). Space-time correlation of slip and tremor during the 2009 Cascadia slow slip event. Geophysical Research Letters, 38(18).

Bassett, D., & Watts, A. B. (2015). Gravity anomalies, crustal structure, and seismicity at subduction zones: 2. Interrelationships between fore-arc structure and seismogenic behavior. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 16(5), 1541-1576.

Becker, T. W., Lowry, A. R., Faccenna, C., Schmandt, B., Borsa, A., & Yu, C. (2015). Western US intermountain seismicity caused by changes in upper mantle flow. Nature, 524(7566), 458-461.

Beeler, N. M., Hirth, G., Thomas, A., & Bürgmann, R. (2016). Effective stress, friction, and deep crustal faulting. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 121(2), 1040-1059.

Beeler, N. M., Tullis, T. E., & Goldsby, D. L. (2008). Constitutive relationships and physical basis of fault strength due to flash heating. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 113(B1).

Behn, M. D., Hirth, G., & Kelemen, P. B. (2007). Trench-parallel anisotropy produced by foundering of arc lower crust. Science, 317(5834), 108-111.

Behr, W. M. and Bürgmann, R. (2020). What's down there? The structures, materials and environment of deep-seated tremor and slip. Preprint at https://doi.org/10.31223/osf.io/tyzb9.

Behr, W. M., & Becker, T. W. (2018). Sediment control on subduction plate speeds. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 502, 166-173.

Behr, W. M., Kotowski, A. J., & Ashley, K. T. (2018). Dehydration-induced rheological heterogeneity and the deep tremor source in warm subduction zones. Geology, 46(5), 475-478.

Bercovici, D., Mulyukova, E., & Long, M. D. (2019). A simple toy model for coupled retreat and detachment of subducting slabs. Journal of Geodynamics, 129, 275-289.

Beroza, G.C., and S., Ide (2011). Slow earthquakes and nonvolcanic tremor. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Science 39, 271–296. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-earth-040809-152531.

Bilek, S. L., & Lay, T. (2002). Tsunami earthquakes possibly widespread manifestations of frictional conditional stability. Geophysical Research Letters, 29(14), 18-1.

Billen, M. I., & Gurnis, M. (2001). A low viscosity wedge in subduction zones. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 193(1-2), 227-236.

Bletery, Q., Thomas, A. M., Rempel, A. W., Karlstrom, L., Sladen, A., & De Barros, L. (2016). Mega-earthquakes rupture flat megathrusts. Science, 354(6315), 1027-1031.

Bodmer, M., Toomey, D. R., Roering, J. J., & Karlstrom, L. (2020). Asthenospheric buoyancy and the origin of high-relief topography along the Cascadia forearc. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 531, 115965.

Brantut, N., Schubnel, A., Corvisier, J., & Sarout, J. (2010). Thermochemical pressurization of faults during coseismic slip. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 115(B5).

Brizzi, S., Sandri, L., Funiciello, F., Corbi, F., Piromallo, C., & Heuret, A. (2018). Multivariate statistical analysis to investigate the subduction zone parameters favoring the occurrence of giant megathrust earthquakes. Tectonophysics, 728, 92-103.

Brizzi, S., van Zelst, I., Funiciello, F., Corbi, F., & van Dinther, Y. (2020). How sediment thickness influences subduction dynamics and seismicity. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 125(8), e2019JB018964.

Brodsky, E. E., & Lay, T. (2014). Recognizing foreshocks from the 1 April 2014 Chile earthquake. *Science*, *344*(6185), 700-702.

Brodsky, E. E., Mori, J. J., Anderson, L., Chester, F. M., Conin, M., Dunham, E. M., ... & Ikari, M. J. (2020). The state of stress on the fault before, during, and after a major earthquake. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, 48.

Brown, K. & Y. Fialko (2012). 'Melt welt' mechanism of extreme weakening of gabbro at seismic slip rate. Nature, 488, 638- 642. doi:10.1038/nature11370.

Buffett, B. A. (2006). Plate force due to bending at subduction zones. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 111(B9).

Bürgmann, R., Kogan, M. G., Steblov, G. M., Hilley, G., Levin, V. E., & Apel, E. (2005). Interseismic coupling and asperity distribution along the Kamchatka subduction zone. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 110(B7).

Bürgmann, R., & Chadwell, D. (2014). Seafloor geodesy. *Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences*, *42*, 509-534.

Bürgmann, R. (2018). The geophysics, geology and mechanics of slow fault slip. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 495, 112-134.

Caine, J. S., Evans, J. P., & Forster, C. B. (1996). Fault zone architecture and permeability structure. Geology, 24(11), 1025-1028.

Capitanio, F. A., Morra, G., & Goes, S. (2009). Dynamics of plate bending at the trench and slab-plate coupling. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 10(4).

Cattania, C., & Segall, P. (2019). Crack models of repeating earthquakes predict observed moment-recurrence scaling. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 124(1), 476-503.

Cattania, C. (2019). Complex earthquake sequences on simple faults. Geophysical Research Letters, 46(17-18), 10384-10393.

Cerpa, N. G., Araya, R., Gerbault, M., & Hassani, R. (2015). Relationship between slab dip and topography segmentation in an oblique subduction zone: Insights from numerical modeling. Geophysical Research Letters, 42(14), 5786-5795.

Chen, T., & Lapusta, N. (2009). Scaling of small repeating earthquakes explained by interaction of seismic and aseismic slip in a rate and state fault model. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 114(B1).

Chestler, S. R., & Creager, K. C. (2017). A model for low-frequency earthquake slip. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 18(12), 4690-4708.

Cloos, M. (1982). Flow melanges: Numerical modeling and geologic constraints on their origin in the Franciscan subduction complex, California. Geological Society of America Bulletin, 93(4), 330-345.

Cloos, M. (1992). Thrust-type subduction-zone earthquakes and seamount asperities: A physical model for seismic rupture. Geology, 20(7), 601-604.

Cloos, M., & Shreve, R. L. (1996). Shear-zone thickness and the seismicity of Chilean-and Marianas-type subduction zones. Geology, 24(2), 107-110.

Collot, J. Y., Sanclemente, E., Nocquet, J. M., Leprêtre, A., Ribodetti, A., Jarrin, P., ... & Charvis, P. (2017). Subducted oceanic relief locks the shallow megathrust in central Ecuador. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 122(5), 3286-3305.

Conrad, C. P., Bilek, S., & Lithgow-Bertelloni, C. (2004). Great earthquakes and slab pull: interaction between seismic coupling and plate–slab coupling. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 218(1-2), 109-122.

Cruz-Atienza, V. M., J. Tago, C. Villafuerte, M. Wei, R. Garza-Girón, L. A. Dominguez, V. Kostoglodov, T. Nishimura, S. Franco, J. Real, M. A. Santoyo, Y. Ito, and E. Kazachkina. (2020). Short-Term Interaction between Silent and Devastating Earthquakes in Mexico. Earth and Space Science Open Archive, 53, https://doi.org/10.1002/essoar.10503980.2.

Cruz-Atienza, V. M., Villafuerte, C., & Bhat, H. S. (2018). Rapid tremor migration and pore-pressure waves in subduction zones. Nature Communications, 9(1), 1-13.

Cubas, N., Lapusta, N. and J.-P., Avouac, and H. Perfettini. (2015) Numerical modeling of long-term earthquake sequences on the NE Japan megathrust: Comparison with observations and implications for fault friction. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 419, 187-198.

Currie, C. A., Beaumont, C., & Huismans, R. S. (2007). The fate of subducted sediments: A case for backarc intrusion and underplating. Geology, 35(12), 1111-1114.

Dahlen, F. A. (1990). Critical taper model of fold-and-thrust belts and accretionary wedges. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, 18(1), 55-99.

Dal Zilio, L., Dinther, Y., Gerya, T. & Avouac, J.-P. (2019). Bimodal seismicity in the Himalaya controlled by fault friction and geometry. Nature Communications, 10, 48.

De Franco, R., Govers, R., & Wortel, R. (2007). Numerical comparison of different convergent plate contacts: subduction channel and subduction fault. Geophysical Journal International, 171(1), 435-450.

Delano, J. E., Amos, C. B., Loveless, J. P., Rittenour, T. M., Sherrod, B. L., & Lynch, E. M. (2017). Influence of the megathrust earthquake cycle on upper-plate deformation in the Cascadia forearc of Washington State, USA. Geology, 45(11), 1051-1054.

De Paola, N., Hirose, T., Mitchell, T., Di Toro, G., Viti, C., Shimamoto, T. (2011). Fault lubrication and earthquake propagation in thermally unstable rocks. Geology 39 (1), 35-38.

DeDontney, N., & Hubbard, J. (2012). Applying wedge theory to dynamic rupture modeling of fault junctions. Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America, 102(4), 1693-1711.

Den Hartog, S. A., & Spiers, C. J. (2014). A microphysical model for fault gouge friction applied to subduction megathrusts. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 119(2), 1510-1529.

Dieterich, J. H. (1979). Modeling of rock friction: 1. Experimental results and constitutive equations. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 84(B5), 2161-2168.

Di Toro, G., Goldsby, D. L., and Tullis, T. E. (2004). Friction falls towards zero in quartz rock as slip velocity approaches seismic rates. Nature, 427(6973), 436.

Di Toro, G., Han, R., Hirose, T., De Paola, N., Nielsen, S., Mizoguchi, K., et al. (2011). Fault lubrication during earthquakes. Nature, 471(7339), 494-498.

Di Toro, G., Hirose, T., Nielsen, S., Pennacchioni, G., and T. Shimamoto. (2006), Natural and experimental evidence of melt lubrication of faults during earthquakes. Science, 311, 647-649.

Duan, B. (2012). Dynamic rupture of the 2011 Mw 9.0 Tohoku-Oki earthquake: Roles of a possible subducting seamount, Journal of Geophysical Research, 117, B05311.

Duan, B., & Oglesby, D. D. (2005). The dynamics of thrust and normal faults over multiple earthquake cycles: Effects of dipping fault geometry. Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America, 95(5), 1623-1636.

Dublanchet, P., Bernard, P., & Favreau, P. (2013). Interactions and triggering in a 3-D rate-and-state asperity model. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 118(5), 2225-2245.

Dunham, E. M., Belanger, D., Cong, L., & Kozdon, J. E. (2011). Earthquake ruptures with strongly rate-weakening friction and off-fault plasticity, Part 2: Nonplanar faults. Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America, 101(5), 2308-2322.

Dunham, E. M., Belanger, D., Cong, L., & Kozdon, J. E. (2011). Earthquake ruptures with strongly rate-weakening friction and off-fault plasticity, Part 1: Planar faults. Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America, 101(5), 2296-2307.

Duretz, T., & Gerya, T. V. (2013). Slab detachment during continental collision: Influence of crustal rheology and interaction with lithospheric delamination. Tectonophysics, 602, 124-140.

England, P., & Wilkins, C. (2004). A simple analytical approximation to the temperature structure in subduction zones. Geophysical Journal International, 159, 1138-1154.

England, P. C., & Katz, R. F. (2010). Melting above the anhydrous solidus controls the location of volcanic arcs. Nature, 467(7316), 700-703.

Erickson, B. A., Jiang, J., Barall, M., Lapusta, N., Dunham, E. M., Harris, R., ... & Cattania, C. (2020). The community code verification exercise for simulating sequences of earthquakes and aseismic slip (SEAS). Seismological Research Letters, 91(2A), 874-890.

Evans, J. P., Forster, C. B., & Goddard, J. V. (1997). Permeability of fault-related rocks, and implications for hydraulic structure of fault zones. Journal of Structural Geology, 19(11), 1393-1404.

Fagereng, Å., & Den Hartog, S. A. (2017). Subduction megathrust creep governed by pressure solution and frictional–viscous flow. Nature Geoscience, 10(1), 51-57.

Fagereng, Å., Hillary, G. W., & Diener, J. F. (2014). Brittle-viscous deformation, slow slip, and tremor. Geophysical Research Letters, 41(12), 4159-4167.

Faulkner, D. R., Jackson, C. A. L., Lunn, R. J., Schlische, R. W., Shipton, Z. K., Wibberley, C. A. J., & Withjack, M. O. (2010). A review of recent developments concerning the structure, mechanics and fluid flow properties of fault zones. Journal of Structural Geology, 32(11), 1557-1575.

Faulkner, D. R., Mitchell, T. M., Behnsen, J., Hirose, T., & Shimamoto, T. (2011). Stuck in the mud? Earthquake nucleation and propagation through accretionary forearcs. Geophysical Research Letters, 38(18).

Freed, A. M., Hashima, A., Becker, T. W., Okaya, D. A., Sato, H., & Hatanaka, Y. (2017). Resolving depth-dependent subduction zone viscosity and afterslip from postseismic displacements following the 2011 Tohoku-oki, Japan earthquake. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 459, 279-290.

French, M. E., & Condit, C. B. (2019). Slip partitioning along an idealized subduction plate boundary at deep slow slip conditions. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 528, 115828.

Freund, L. B. (1979). The mechanics of dynamic shear crack propagation. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 84(B5), 2199-2209.

Freund, L. B. (1998). Dynamic fracture mechanics. Cambridge University Press.

Fujie, G., Kodaira, S., Yamashita, M., Sato, T., Takahashi, T., & Takahashi, N. (2013). Systematic changes in the incoming plate structure at the Kuril trench. Geophysical Research Letters, 40(1), 88-93.

Fujie, G., Kodaira, S., Nakamura, Y., Morgan, J. P., Dannowski, A., Thorwart, M., ... & Miura, S. (2020). Spatial variations of incoming sediments at the northeastern Japan arc and their implications for megathrust earthquakes. Geology, 48(6), 614-619.

Fujiwara, T., Kodaira, S., No, T., Kaiho, Y., Takahashi, N., & Kaneda, Y. (2011). The 2011 Tohoku-Oki earthquake: Displacement reaching the trench axis. Science, 334(6060), 1240-1240.

Gabriel, A. A., Ampuero, J. P., Dalguer, L. A., & Mai, P. M. (2013). Source properties of dynamic rupture pulses with off-fault plasticity. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 118(8), 4117-4126.

Gabuchian, V., Rosakis, A. J., Bhat, H. S., Madariaga, R., & Kanamori, H. (2017). Experimental evidence that thrust earthquake ruptures might open faults. Nature, 545(7654), 336-339.

Gallovič, F., Valentová, Ľ., Ampuero, J. P., & Gabriel, A. A. (2019). Bayesian dynamic finite-fault inversion: 1. Method and synthetic test. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 124(7), 6949-6969.

Galvez, P., Ampuero, J. P., Dalguer, L. A., Somala, S. N., & Nissen-Meyer, T. (2014). Dynamic earthquake rupture modelled with an unstructured 3-D spectral element method applied to the 2011 M 9 Tohoku earthquake. Geophysical Journal International, 198(2), 1222-1240.

Gao, H. (2018). Three-dimensional variations of the slab geometry correlate with earthquake distributions at the Cascadia subduction system. Nature Communications, 9(1), 1-8.

Garagash, D. I. (2012). Seismic and aseismic slip pulses driven by thermal pressurization of pore fluid. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 117(B4).

Garfunkel, Z., Anderson, C. A., & Schubert, G. (1986). Mantle circulation and the lateral migration of subducted slabs. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 91(B7), 7205-7223.

Gérault, M., Becker, T. W., Kaus, B. J., Faccenna, C., Moresi, L., & Husson, L. (2012). The role of slabs and oceanic plate geometry in the net rotation of the lithosphere, trench motions, and slab return flow. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 13(4).

Gerbault, M., Cembrano, J., Mpodozis, C., Farias, M., & Pardo, M. (2009). Continental margin deformation along the Andean subduction zone: Thermo-mechanical models. Physics of the Earth and Planetary Interiors, 177(3-4), 180-205.

Gerya, T. V., Stöckhert, B., & Perchuk, A. L. (2002). Exhumation of high-pressure metamorphic rocks in a subduction channel: A numerical simulation. Tectonics, 21(6), 6-1.

Ghosh, A., Becker, T. W., & Humphreys, E. D. (2013). Dynamics of the North American continent. Geophysical Journal International, 194(2), 651-669.

Ghosh, A., Holt, W. E., & Bahadori, A. (2019). Role of large-scale tectonic forces in intraplate earthquakes of Central and Eastern North America. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 20(4), 2134-2156.

Goldsby, D. L., and T.E. Tullis (2011). Flash heating leads to low frictional strength of crustal rocks at earthquake slip rates. Science, 334(6053), 216-218.

Goldsby, D. L., & Tullis, T. E. (2002). Low frictional strength of quartz rocks at subseismic slip rates. Geophysical Research Letters, 29(17), 25-1.

Goswami, A., & Barbot, S. (2018). Slow-slip events in semi-brittle serpentinite fault zones. Scientific Reports, 8(1), 1-11.

Govers, R., Furlong, K. P., Van de Wiel, L., Herman, M. W., & Broerse, T. (2018). The geodetic signature of the earthquake cycle at subduction zones: Model constraints on the deep processes. Reviews of Geophysics, 56(1), 6-49.

Han, S., Bangs, N. L., Carbotte, S. M., Saffer, D. M., & Gibson, J. C. (2017). Links between sediment consolidation and Cascadia megathrust slip behaviour. Nature Geoscience, 10(12), 954-959.

Han, S., Carbotte, S. M., Canales, J. P., Nedimović, M. R., Carton, H., Gibson, J. C., & Horning, G. W. (2016). Seismic reflection imaging of the Juan de Fuca plate from ridge to trench: New constraints on the distribution of faulting and evolution of the crust prior to subduction. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 121(3), 1849-1872.

Hale, A. J., Gottschaldt, K. D., Rosenbaum, G., Bourgouin, L., Bauchy, M., & Mühlhaus, H. (2010). Dynamics of slab tear faults: Insights from numerical modelling. Tectonophysics, 483(1-2), 58-70.

Hardebeck, J. L. (2012). Coseismic and postseismic stress rotations due to great subduction zone earthquakes. Geophysical Research Letters, 39(21).

Hardebeck, J. L. (2015). Stress orientations in subduction zones and the strength of subduction megathrust faults. Science, 349(6253), 1213-1216.

Hardebeck, J. L., & Okada, T. (2018). Temporal stress changes caused by earthquakes: a review. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 123(2), 1350-1365.

Harris, R. A., Barall, M., Aagaard, B., Ma, S., Roten, D., Olsen, K., ... & Ampuero, J. P. (2018). A suite of exercises for verifying dynamic earthquake rupture codes. Seismological Research Letters, 89(3), 1146-1162.

Hasegawa, A., Yoshida, K., Asano, Y., Okada, T., Iinuma, T., & Ito, Y. (2012). Change in stress field after the 2011 great Tohoku-Oki earthquake. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 355, 231-243.

Hasenclever, J., Morgan, J. P., Hort, M., & Rüpke, L. H. (2011). 2D and 3D numerical models on compositionally buoyant diapirs in the mantle wedge. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 311(1-2), 53-68.

Hashima, A., & Sato, T. (2017). A megathrust earthquake cycle model for Northeast Japan: bridging the mismatch between geological uplift and geodetic subsidence. Earth, Planets and Space, 69(1), 1-10.

Hashimoto, C., Fukuyama, E., & Matsu'ura, M. (2014). Physics-based 3-D simulation for earthquake generation cycles at plate interfaces in subduction zones. Pure and Applied Geophysics, 171(8), 1705-1728.

Hawthorne, J. C., & Rubin, A. M. (2010). Tidal modulation of slow slip in Cascadia. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 115(B9).

Hawthorne, J. C., & Rubin, A. M. (2013). Tidal modulation and back-propagating fronts in slow slip events simulated with a velocity-weakening to velocity-strengthening friction law. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 118(3), 1216-1239.

Herrendörfer, R., Gerya, T., & Van Dinther, Y. (2018). An invariant rate-and state-dependent friction formulation for viscoeastoplastic earthquake cycle simulations. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 123(6), 5018-5051.

Herrendörfer, R., Van Dinther, Y., Gerya, T., & Dalguer, L. A. (2015). Earthquake supercycle in subduction zones controlled by the width of the seismogenic zone. Nature Geoscience, 8(6), 471-474.

Heuret, A., & Lallemand, S. (2005). Plate motions, slab dynamics and back-arc deformation. Physics of the Earth and Planetary Interiors, 149(1-2), 31-51.

Heuret, A., Conrad, C. P., Funiciello, F., Lallemand, S., & Sandri, L. (2012). Relation between subduction megathrust earthquakes, trench sediment thickness and upper plate strain. Geophysical Research Letters, 39(5).

Hill, E. M., Borrero, J. C., Huang, Z., Qiu, Q., Banerjee, P., Natawidjaja, D. H., ... & Li, L. (2012). The 2010 Mw 7.8 Mentawai earthquake: Very shallow source of a rare tsunami earthquake determined from tsunami field survey and near-field GPS data. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 117(B6).

Hirahara, K., & Nishikiori, K. (2019). Estimation of frictional properties and slip evolution on a long-term slow slip event fault with the ensemble Kalman filter: numerical experiments. Geophysical Journal International, 219(3), 2074-2096.

Hirth, G., & Beeler, N. M. (2015). The role of fluid pressure on frictional behavior at the base of the seismogenic zone. Geology, 43(3), 223-226.

Honda, S., & Yoshida, T. (2005). Effects of oblique subduction on the 3-D pattern of small-scale convection within the mantle wedge. Geophysical Research Letters, 32(13).

Holt, A. F., Becker, T. W., & Buffett, B. A. (2015). Trench migration and overriding plate stress in dynamic subduction models. Geophysical Journal International, 201(1), 172-192.

Holt, A. F., Royden, L. H., Becker, T. W., & Faccenna, C. (2018). Slab interactions in 3-D subduction settings: The Philippine sea plate region. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 489, 72-83.

Hori, T., Kato, N., Hirahara, K., Baba, T., & Kaneda, Y. (2004). A numerical simulation of earthquake cycles along the Nankai Trough in southwest Japan: lateral variation in frictional property due to the slab geometry controls the nucleation position. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 228(3-4), 215-226.

Hu, Y., Bürgmann, R., Uchida, N., Banerjee, P., & Freymueller, J. T. (2016). Stress-driven relaxation of heterogeneous upper mantle and time-dependent afterslip following the 2011 Tohoku earthquake. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 121(1), 385-411.

Huang, Y., Meng, L., & Ampuero, J. P. (2012). A dynamic model of the frequency-dependent rupture process of the 2011 Tohoku-Oki earthquake. Earth, planets and space, 64(12), 1061-1066.

Hubbard, J., Almeida, R., Foster, A., Sapkota, S. N., Bürgi, P., & Tapponnier, P. (2016). Structural segmentation controlled the 2015 Mw 7.8 Gorkha earthquake rupture in Nepal. Geology, 44(8), 639-642.

Hubbard, J., Barbot, S., Hill, E. M., & Tapponnier, P. (2015). Coseismic slip on shallow décollement megathrusts: Implications for seismic and tsunami hazard. Earth-Science Reviews, 141, 45-55.

Hubbert, M. K., & Rubey, W. W. (1959). Role of fluid pressure in mechanics of overthrust faulting: I. Mechanics of fluid-filled porous solids and its application to overthrust faulting. Geological Society of America Bulletin, 70(2), 115-166.

Hyndman, R. D., Yamano, M., and Oleskevich, D. A. (1997). The seismogenic zone of subduction thrust faults. Island Arc, 6(3), 244-260.

Ide, S., Beroza, G. C., Shelly, D. R., & Uchide, T. (2007). A scaling law for slow earthquakes. Nature, 447(7140), 76-79.

Ide, S., & Maury, J. (2018). Seismic moment, seismic energy, and source duration of slow earthquakes: Application of Brownian slow earthquake model to three major subduction zones. Geophysical Research Letters, 45(7), 3059-3067.

linuma, T. (2018). Monitoring of the spatio-temporal change in the interplate coupling at northeastern Japan subduction zone based on the spatial gradients of surface velocity field. Geophysical Journal International, 213(1), 30-47.

Ikari, M. J., Saffer, D. M., & Marone, C. (2009). Frictional and hydrologic properties of clay-rich fault gouge. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 114(B5).

Ikari, M. J., Carpenter, B. M., & Marone, C. (2016). A microphysical interpretation of rate-and state-dependent friction for fault gouge. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 17(5), 1660-1677.

Im, K., Saffer, D., Marone, C., & Avouac, J. P. (2020). Slip-rate-dependent friction as a universal mechanism for slow slip events. Nature Geoscience, 1-6.

Ito, Y., Hino, R., Kido, M., Fujimoto, H., Osada, Y., Inazu, D., ... & Mishina, M. (2013). Episodic slow slip events in the Japan subduction zone before the 2011 Tohoku-Oki earthquake. Tectonophysics, 600, 14-26.

Jadamec, M. A., Billen, M. I., & Roeske, S. M. (2013). Three-dimensional numerical models of flat slab subduction and the Denali fault driving deformation in south-central Alaska. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 376, 29-42.

Jadamec, M. A. (2016). Insights on slab-driven mantle flow from advances in three-dimensional modelling. Journal of Geodynamics, 100, 51-70.

Jarrard, R. D. (1986). Relations among subduction parameters. Reviews of Geophysics, 24(2), 217-284.

Jeppson, T. N., Tobin, H. J., & Hashimoto, Y. (2018). Laboratory measurements quantifying elastic properties of accretionary wedge sediments: Implications for slip to the trench during the 2011 Mw 9.0 Tohoku-Oki earthquake. Geosphere, 14(4), 1411-1424.

Ji, Y., Yoshioka, S., Manea, V. C., Manea, M., & Matsumoto, T. (2017). Three-dimensional numerical modeling of thermal regime and slab dehydration beneath Kanto and Tohoku, Japan. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 122(1), 332-353.

Jiang, J., & Lapusta, N. (2016). Deeper penetration of large earthquakes on seismically quiescent faults. Science, 352(6291), 1293-1297.

Johnson, K. M., Fukuda, J. I., & Segall, P. (2012). Challenging the rate-state asperity model: Afterslip following the 2011 M9 Tohoku-oki, Japan, earthquake. Geophysical Research Letters, 39(20).

Johnson, K. M., Mavrommatis, A., & Segall, P. (2016). Small interseismic asperities and widespread aseismic creep on the northern Japan subduction interface. Geophysical Research Letters, 43(1), 135-143.

Johnson, K. M., & Tebo, D. (2018). Capturing 50 years of postseismic mantle flow at Nankai subduction zone. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 123(11), 10-091.

Jolivet, R., Simons, M., Duputel, Z., Olive, J. A., Bhat, H. S., & Bletery, Q. (2020). Interseismic Loading of Subduction Megathrust Drives Long-Term Uplift in Northern Chile. Geophysical Research Letters, 47(8), e2019GL085377.

Kajiura, K. (1963). The leading wave of a tsunami. Bulletin of the Earthquake Research Institute, 41(3), 535-571.

Kanamori, H. (1972). Mechanism of tsunami earthquakes. Physics of the Earth and Planetary Interiors, 6(5), 346-359.

Kanamori, H. (1986). Rupture process of subduction-zone earthquakes. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, 14(1), 293-322.

Kanda, R. V., & Simons, M. (2010). An elastic plate model for interseismic deformation in subduction zones. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 115(B3).

Kaneko, Y., Ampuero, J. P., & Lapusta, N. (2011). Spectral-element simulations of long-term fault slip: Effect of low-rigidity layers on earthquake-cycle dynamics. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 116(B10).

Kato, N., & Hirasawa, T. (1997). A numerical study on seismic coupling along subduction zones using a laboratory-derived friction law. Physics of the Earth and Planetary Interiors, 102(1-2), 51-68.

Kato, A., Obara, K., Igarashi, T., Tsuruoka, H., Nakagawa, S., & Hirata, N. (2012). Propagation of slow slip leading up to the 2011 Mw 9.0 Tohoku-Oki earthquake. Science, 335(6069), 705-708.

Kawaguchi, K., Kaneko, S., Nishida, T., & Komine, T. (2015). Construction of the DONET real-time seafloor observatory for earthquakes and tsunami monitoring. In Seafloor observatories (pp. 211-228). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Kincaid, C., & Griffiths, R. W. (2004). Variability in flow and temperatures within mantle subduction zones. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 5(6).

Kitajima, H., and D.M. Saffer (2012). Elevated pore pressure and anomalously low stress in regions of low frequency earthquakes along the Nankai Trough subduction megathrust. Geophysical Research Letters, 39(23).

Kitajima, H., Chester, F. M., & Biscontin, G. (2012). Mechanical and hydraulic properties of Nankai accretionary prism sediments: Effect of stress path. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 13(10).

Kneller, E. A., & Van Keken, P. E. (2008). Effect of three-dimensional slab geometry on deformation in the mantle wedge: Implications for shear wave anisotropy. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 9(1).

Kopp, H. (2013). Invited review paper: The control of subduction zone structural complexity and geometry on margin segmentation and seismicity. Tectonophysics, 589, 1-16.

Kotowski, A. J., & Behr, W. M. (2019). Length scales and types of heterogeneities along the deep subduction interface: Insights from exhumed rocks on Syros Island, Greece. Geosphere, 15(4), 1038-1065.

Kozdon, J. E., & Dunham, E. M. (2013). Rupture to the Trench: Dynamic Rupture Simulations of the 11 March 2011 Tohoku EarthquakeRupture to the Trench: Dynamic Rupture Simulations of the 11 March 2011 Tohoku Earthquake. Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America, 103(2B), 1275-1289.

Kyriakopoulos, C., & Newman, A. V. (2016). Structural asperity focusing locking and earthquake slip along the Nicoya megathrust, Costa Rica. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 121(7), 5461-5476.

Lapusta, N., & Liu, Y. (2009). Three-dimensional boundary integral modeling of spontaneous earthquake sequences and aseismic slip. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 114(B9).

Lapusta, N. et al. (2019): Modeling Earthquake Source Processes: from Tectonics to Dynamic Rupture, Report to the National Science Foundation. Available online at http://www.seismolab.caltech.edu/pdf/MESP_White_Paper_Main_Text_8_March_2019.pdf, accessed 07/2020.

Lapusta, N., Rice, J. R., Ben-Zion, Y., & Zheng, G. (2000). Elastodynamic analysis for slow tectonic loading with spontaneous rupture episodes on faults with rate-and state-dependent friction. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 105(B10), 23765-23789.

Lavier, L. L., Bennett, R. A., & Duddu, R. (2013). Creep events at the brittle ductile transition. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 14(9), 3334-3351.

Lay, T., Bilek, S., Dixon, T., & Moore, C. (2007). Anomalous earthquake ruptures at shallow depths on subduction zone megathrusts. The seismogenic zone of subduction thrust faults, 476-511.

Lay, T., & Kanamori, H. (1980). An asperity model of large earthquake sequences. Earthquake Prediction: An International Review, 4, 579–592.

Li, D., & Liu, Y. (2016). Spatiotemporal evolution of slow slip events in a nonplanar fault model for northern Cascadia subduction zone. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 121(9), 6828-6845.

Li, D., & Liu, Y. (2017). Modeling slow-slip segmentation in Cascadia subduction zone constrained by tremor locations and gravity anomalies. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 122(4), 3138-3157.

Li, S., Wang, K., Wang, Y., Jiang, Y., & Dosso, S. E. (2018). Geodetically inferred locking state of the Cascadia megathrust based on a viscoelastic Earth model. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 123(9), 8056-8072.

Lin, J. T., Aslam, K. S., Thomas, A. M., & Melgar, D. (2020). Overlapping regions of coseismic and transient slow slip on the Hawaiian décollement. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 544, 116353.

Lindsey, N. J., Dawe, T. C., & Ajo-Franklin, J. B. (2019). Illuminating seafloor faults and ocean dynamics with dark fiber distributed acoustic sensing. Science, 366(6469), 1103-1107.

Liu, Y., & Rice, J. R. (2005). Aseismic slip transients emerge spontaneously in three-dimensional rate and state modeling of subduction earthquake sequences. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 110(B8).

Liu, Y., & Rice, J. R. (2007). Spontaneous and triggered aseismic deformation transients in a subduction fault model. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 112(B9).

Lotto, G. C., Dunham, E. M., Jeppson, T. N., & Tobin, H. J. (2017). The effect of compliant prisms on subduction zone earthquakes and tsunamis. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 458, 213-222.

Lotto, G. C., Jeppson, T. N., & Dunham, E. M. (2019). Fully coupled simulations of megathrust earthquakes and tsunamis in the Japan trench, Nankai Trough, and Cascadia Subduction Zone. Pure and Applied Geophysics, 176(9), 4009-4041.

Loveless, J. P., & Meade, B. J. (2010). Geodetic imaging of plate motions, slip rates, and partitioning of deformation in Japan. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 115(B2).

Loveless, J. P., & Meade, B. J. (2011). Spatial correlation of interseismic coupling and coseismic rupture extent of the 2011 Mw= 9.0 Tohoku-oki earthquake. Geophysical Research Letters, 38(17).

Loveless, J. P., & Meade, B. J. (2016). Two decades of spatiotemporal variations in subduction zone coupling offshore Japan. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 436, 19-30.

Ma, S. (2012). A self-consistent mechanism for slow dynamic deformation and tsunami generation for earthquakes in the shallow subduction zone. Geophysical Research Letters, 39(11).

Ma, S., & Beroza, G. C. (2008). Rupture dynamics on a bimaterial interface for dipping faults. Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America, 98(4), 1642-1658.

Ma, S., & Nie, S. (2019). Dynamic Wedge Failure and Along-Arc Variations of Tsunamigenesis in the Japan Trench Margin. Geophysical Research Letters, 46(15), 8782-8790.

Ma, S., & Hirakawa, E. T. (2013). Dynamic wedge failure reveals anomalous energy radiation of shallow subduction earthquakes. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 375, 113-122.

Madden, E., Bader, M., Behrens, J., van Dinther, Y., Gabriel, A. A., Rannabauer, L., Ulrich, T., Uphoff, C., Vater, S., Wollherr, S. & van Zelst, I. (2019). Methods and Test Cases for Linking Physics-Based Earthquake and Tsunami Models, doi:10.31223/osf.io/rzvn2.

Malatesta, C., Gerya, T., Crispini, L., Federico, L., & Capponi, G. (2013). Oblique subduction modelling indicates along-trench tectonic transport of sediments. Nature Communications, 4(1), 1-6.

Marone, C. J., Scholtz, C. H., & Bilham, R. (1991). On the mechanics of earthquake afterslip. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 96(B5), 8441-8452.

Marone, C. (1998). Laboratory-derived friction laws and their application to seismic faulting. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, 26(1), 643-696.

Mannu, U., Ueda, K., Willett, S. D., Gerya, T. V., & Strasser, M. (2016). Impact of sedimentation on evolution of accretionary wedges: Insights from high-resolution thermomechanical modeling. Tectonics, 35(12), 2828-2846.

Martin-Short, R., Allen, R. M., Bastow, I. D., Totten, E., & Richards, M. A. (2015). Mantle flow geometry from ridge to trench beneath the Gorda–Juan de Fuca plate system. Nature Geoscience, 8(12), 965-968.

Materna, K., Bartlow, N., Wech, A., Williams, C., & Bürgmann, R. (2019). Dynamically triggered changes of plate interface coupling in Southern Cascadia. Geophysical Research Letters, 46(22), 12890-12899.

Matsuzawa, T., Hirose, H., Shibazaki, B., & Obara, K. (2010). Modeling short-and long-term slow slip events in the seismic cycles of large subduction earthquakes. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 115(B12).

Maunder, B., van Hunen, J., Bouilhol, P., & Magni, V. (2019). Modeling slab temperature: A reevaluation of the thermal parameter. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 20(2), 673-687.

Mavrommatis, A. P., Segall, P., and K.M. Johnson (2014). A decadal-scale deformation transient prior to the 2011 Mw 9.0 Tohoku-oki earthquake. Geophysical Research Letters, 41(13), 4486-4494.

Mavrommatis, A. P., Segall, P., & Johnson, K. M. (2017). A physical model for interseismic erosion of locked fault asperities. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 122(10), 8326-8346.

Meade, B. J., & Conrad, C. P. (2008). Andean growth and the deceleration of South American subduction: Time evolution of a coupled orogen-subduction system. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 275(1-2), 93-101.

Melgar, D., Riquelme, S., Xu, X., Baez, J. C., Geng, J., & Moreno, M. (2017). The first since 1960: A large event in the Valdivia segment of the Chilean Subduction Zone, the 2016 M7. 6 Melinka earthquake. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 474, 68-75.

Menant, A., Sternai, P., Jolivet, L., Guillou-Frottier, L., & Gerya, T. (2016). 3D numerical modeling of mantle flow, crustal dynamics and magma genesis associated with slab roll-back and tearing: The eastern Mediterranean case. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 442, 93-107.

Menant, A., Angiboust, S., & Gerya, T. (2019). Stress-driven fluid flow controls long-term megathrust strength and deep accretionary dynamics. Scientific reports, 9(1), 1-11.

Menant, A., Angiboust, S., Gerya, T., Lacassin, R., Simoes, M., & Grandin, R. (2020). Transient stripping of subducting slabs controls periodic forearc uplift. Nature Communications, 11(1), 1-10.

Miura, S., Takahashi, N., Nakanishi, A., Tsuru, T., Kodaira, S., & Kaneda, Y. (2005). Structural characteristics off Miyagi forearc region, the Japan Trench seismogenic zone, deduced from a wide-angle reflection and refraction study. Tectonophysics, 407(3-4), 165-188.

Miyazawa, M., & Brodsky, E. E. (2008). Deep low-frequency tremor that correlates with passing surface waves. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 113(B1).

Moore, G. F., Bangs, N. L., Taira, A., Kuramoto, S., Pangborn, E., & Tobin, H. J. (2007). Three-dimensional splay fault geometry and implications for tsunami generation. Science, 318(5853), 1128-1131.

Morishige, M., & van Keken, P. E. (2017). Along-arc variation in short-term slow slip events caused by 3-D fluid migration in subduction zones. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 122(2), 1434-1448.

Morishige, M., & Honda, S. (2013). Mantle flow and deformation of subducting slab at a plate junction. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 365, 132-142.

Muldashev, I. A., & Sobolev, S. V. (2020). What Controls Maximum Magnitudes of Giant Subduction Earthquakes?. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, e2020GC009145.

NASEM: National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine 2020. A Vision for NSF Earth Sciences 2020-2030: Earth in Time. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/25761.

Nishikawa, T., Matsuzawa, T., Ohta, K., Uchida, N., Nishimura, T., & Ide, S. (2019). The slow earthquake spectrum in the Japan Trench illuminated by the S-net seafloor observatories. Science, 365(6455), 808-813.

Noda, H., Sawai, M., & Shibazaki, B. (2017). Earthquake sequence simulations with measured properties for JFAST core samples. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 375(2103), 20160003.

Noda, H., & Lapusta, N. (2010). Three-dimensional earthquake sequence simulations with evolving temperature and pore pressure due to shear heating: Effect of heterogeneous hydraulic diffusivity. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 115(B12).

Noda, H., & Lapusta, N. (2013). Stable creeping fault segments can become destructive as a result of dynamic weakening. Nature, 493(7433), 518-521.

Noda, H., Dunham, E. M., & Rice, J. R. (2009). Earthquake ruptures with thermal weakening and the operation of major faults at low overall stress levels. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 114(B7).

Obara, K., (2002). Nonvolcanic deep tremor associated with subduction in Southwest Japan. Science 296, 1679–1681.

Obara, K., Kato, A., (2016). Connecting slow earthquakes to huge earthquakes. Science 353, 253–257.

Oglesby, D. D., Archuleta, R. J., & Nielsen, S. B. (1998). Earthquakes on dipping faults: the effects of broken symmetry. Science, 280(5366), 1055-1059.

Olive, J. A., Behn, M. D., & Malatesta, L. C. (2014). Modes of extensional faulting controlled by surface processes. Geophysical Research Letters, 41(19), 6725-6733.

Oryan, B., & Buck, W. R. (2020). Larger tsunamis from megathrust earthquakes where slab dip is reduced. Nature Geoscience, 13(4), 319-324.

Osei Tutu, A., Steinberger, B., Sobolev, S. V., Rogozhina, I., & Popov, A. A. (2018). Effects of upper mantle heterogeneities on the lithospheric stress field and dynamic topography. Solid Earth, 9, 649-668.

Otsuki, K. (1989). Empirical relationships among the convergence rate of plates, rollback rate of trench axis and island-arc tectonics: "laws of convergence rate of plates". Tectonophysics, 159(1-2), 73-94.

Park, J. O., Tsuru, T., Kodaira, S., Cummins, P. R., & Kaneda, Y. (2002). Splay fault branching along the Nankai subduction zone. Science, 297(5584), 1157-1160.

Pelayo, A. M., & Wiens, D. A. (1992). Tsunami earthquakes: Slow thrust-faulting events in the accretionary wedge. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 97(B11), 15321-15337.

Peng, Z., & Gomberg, J. (2010). An integrated perspective of the continuum between earthquakes and slow-slip phenomena. Nature geoscience, 3(9), 599-607.

Platt, J. P., Xia, H., & Schmidt, W. L. (2018). Rheology and stress in subduction zones around the aseismic/seismic transition. Progress in Earth and Planetary Science, 5(1), 1-12.

Plunder, A., Thieulot, C., & Van Hinsbergen, D. J. (2018). The effect of obliquity on temperature in subduction zones: insights from 3-D numerical modeling. Solid Earth, 9(3), 759-776.

Preuss, S., Herrendörfer, R., Gerya, T., Ampuero, J. P., & van Dinther, Y. (2019). Seismic and aseismic fault growth lead to different fault orientations. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 124(8), 8867-8889.

Pritchard, M. E., Allen, R. M., Becker, T. W., Behn, M. D., Brodsky, E. E., Bürgmann, R., ... & Kaneko, Y. (2020). New opportunities to study earthquake precursors. Seismological Research Letters, 91(5), 2444–2447.

Ramos, M. D., & Huang, Y. (2019). How the transition region along the Cascadia megathrust influences coseismic behavior: Insights from 2-D dynamic rupture simulations. Geophysical Research Letters, 46(4), 1973-1983.

Rice, J. R., Lapusta, N., & Ranjith, K. (2001). Rate and state dependent friction and the stability of sliding between elastically deformable solids. Journal of the Mechanics and Physics of Solids, 49(9), 1865-1898.

Rice, J. R. (1993). Spatio-temporal complexity of slip on a fault. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 98*(B6), 9885-9907.

Rice, J. R. (2006). Heating and weakening of faults during earthquake slip. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 111(B5).

Rice, J.R. (1980). The Mechanics of Earthquake Rupture, in Physics of the Earth's Interior (Proc. International School of Physics 'Enrico Fermi', Course 78, 1979; ed. A. M. Dziewonski and E. Boschi), Italian Physical Society and North-Holland Publ. Co, 555-649.

Rogers, G., Dragert, H., (2003). Episodic tremor and slip on the Cascadia subduction zone: the chatter of silent slip. Science 300, 1942–1943.

Rolandone, F., Nocquet, J. M., Mothes, P. A., Jarrin, P., Vallée, M., Cubas, N., ... & Font, Y. (2018). Areas prone to slow slip events impede earthquake rupture propagation and promote afterslip. Science Advances, 4(1), eaao6596.

Romanet, P., Bhat, H. S., Jolivet, R., & Madariaga, R. (2018). Fast and slow slip events emerge due to fault geometrical complexity. Geophysical Research Letters, 45(10), 4809-4819.

Rubin, A. M. (2008). Episodic slow slip events and rate-and-state friction. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 113(B11).

Rubinstein, J. L., La Rocca, M., Vidale, J. E., Creager, K. C., & Wech, A. G. (2008). Tidal modulation of nonvolcanic tremor. Science, 319(5860), 186-189.

Rudolph, M. L., & Zhong, S. J. (2014). History and dynamics of net rotation of the mantle and lithosphere. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 15(9), 3645-3657.

Ruff, L., & Kanamori, H. (1980). Seismicity and the subduction process. Physics of the Earth and Planetary interiors, 23(3), 240-252.

Ruina, A. (1983). Slip instability and state variable friction laws. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 88(B12), 10359-10370.

Ruiz, S., Metois, M., Fuenzalida, A., Ruiz, J., Leyton, F., Grandin, R., ... & Campos, J. (2014). Intense foreshocks and a slow slip event preceded the 2014 lquique Mw 8.1 earthquake. Science, 345(6201), 1165-1169.

Saffer, D. M., & Wallace, L. M. (2015). The frictional, hydrologic, metamorphic and thermal habitat of shallow slow earthquakes. Nature Geoscience, 8(8), 594-600.

Saffer, D. M., & Marone, C. (2003). Comparison of smectite-and illite-rich gouge frictional properties: application to the updip limit of the seismogenic zone along subduction megathrusts. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 215(1-2), 219-235.

Saffer, D. M., & Tobin, H. J. (2011). Hydrogeology and mechanics of subduction zone forearcs: Fluid flow and pore pressure. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, 39, 157-186.

Saito, T. (2019). Tsunami generation and propagation. Tokyo: Springer.

Saito, T., & Kubota, T. (2020). Tsunami modeling for the deep sea and inside focal areas. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, 48, 121-145.

Saito, T., Baba, T., Inazu, D., Takemura, S., & Fukuyama, E. (2019). Synthesizing sea surface height change including seismic waves and tsunami using a dynamic rupture scenario of anticipated Nankai trough earthquakes. Tectonophysics, 769, 228166.

Satake, K. (2015). Tsunamis. Treatise on Geophysics (Second Edition), 4, 477-504.

Scholz, C. H. (1998). Earthquakes and friction laws. Nature, 391(6662), 37-42.

Scholz, C. H., & Small, C. (1997). The effect of seamount subduction on seismic coupling. Geology, 25(6), 487-490.

Schurr, B., Asch, G., Hainzl, S., Bedford, J., Hoechner, A., Palo, M., ... & Oncken, O. (2014). Gradual unlocking of plate boundary controlled initiation of the 2014 lquique earthquake. Nature, 512(7514), 299-302.

Schwartz, S.Y., and J.M. Rokosky (2007). Slow slip events and seismic tremor at circum-Pacific subduction zones. Reviews of Geophysics, 45.

Segall, P., & Bradley, A. M. (2012). Slow-slip evolves into megathrust earthquakes in 2D numerical simulations. Geophysical Research Letters, 39(18).

Segall, P., Rubin, A. M., Bradley, A. M., & Rice, J. R. (2010). Dilatant strengthening as a mechanism for slow slip events. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 115(B12).

Shebalin, P., & Narteau, C. (2017). Depth dependent stress revealed by aftershocks. Nature communications, 8(1), 1-8.

Shelly, D. R., Beroza, G. C., Ide, S., & Nakamula, S. (2006). Low-frequency earthquakes in Shikoku, Japan, and their relationship to episodic tremor and slip. Nature, 442(7099), 188-191.

Shelly, D. R., Beroza, G. C., & Ide, S. (2007). Non-volcanic tremor and low-frequency earthquake swarms. Nature, 446(7133), 305-307.

Shelly, D. R., Beroza, G. C., & Ide, S. (2007). Complex evolution of transient slip derived from precise tremor locations in western Shikoku, Japan. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 8(10).

Shibazaki, B., & Iio, Y. (2003). On the physical mechanism of silent slip events along the deeper part of the seismogenic zone. Geophysical Research Letters, 30(9).

Shibazaki, B., Noda, H., & Ikari, M. J. (2019). Quasi-dynamic 3D modeling of the generation and afterslip of a Tohoku-oki earthquake considering thermal pressurization and frictional properties of the shallow plate boundary. Pure and Applied Geophysics, 176(9), 3951-3973.

Simons, M., Minson, S. E., Sladen, A., Ortega, F., Jiang, J., Owen, S. E., ... & Helmberger, D. V. (2011). The 2011 magnitude 9.0 Tohoku-Oki earthquake: Mosaicking the megathrust from seconds to centuries. science, 332(6036), 1421-1425.

Skarbek, R. M., & Rempel, A. W. (2016). Dehydration-induced porosity waves and episodic tremor and slip. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 17(2), 442-469.

Skarbek, R. M., Rempel, A. W., & Schmidt, D. A. (2012). Geologic heterogeneity can produce aseismic slip transients. Geophysical Research Letters, 39(21).

Sladen, A., Rivet, D., Ampuero, J. P., De Barros, L., Hello, Y., Calbris, G., & Lamare, P. (2019). Distributed sensing of earthquakes and ocean-solid Earth interactions on seafloor telecom cables. Nature communications, 10(1), 1-8.

Sobolev, S. V., & Muldashev, I. A. (2017). Modeling seismic cycles of great megathrust earthquakes across the scales with focus at postseismic phase. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 18(12), 4387-4408.

Sobolev, S. V., & Brown, M. (2019). Surface erosion events controlled the evolution of plate tectonics on Earth. Nature, 570(7759), 52-57.

Socquet, A., Valdes, J. P., Jara, J., Cotton, F., Walpersdorf, A., Cotte, N., ... & Norabuena, E. (2017). An 8 month slow slip event triggers progressive nucleation of the 2014 Chile megathrust. Geophysical Research Letters, 44(9), 4046-4053.

Stadler, G., Gurnis, M., Burstedde, C., Wilcox, L. C., Alisic, L., & Ghattas, O. (2010). The dynamics of plate tectonics and mantle flow: From local to global scales. science, 329(5995), 1033-1038.

Strasser, M., Moore, G. F., Kimura, G., Kitamura, Y., Kopf, A. J., Lallemant, S., ... & Zhao, X. (2009). Origin and evolution of a splay fault in the Nankai accretionary wedge. Nature Geoscience, 2(9), 648-652.

Syracuse, E. M., van Keken, P. E., & Abers, G. A. (2010). The global range of subduction zone thermal models. Physics of the Earth and Planetary Interiors, 183(1-2), 73-90.

Sun, T., Wang, K., & He, J. (2018). Crustal deformation following great subduction earthquakes controlled by earthquake size and mantle rheology. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 123(6), 5323-5345.

Tan, E., Lavier, L. L., Van Avendonk, H. J., & Heuret, A. (2012). The role of frictional strength on plate coupling at the subduction interface. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 13(10).

Tanioka, Y., & Satake, K. (1996). Tsunami generation by horizontal displacement of ocean bottom. Geophysical Research Letters, 23(8), 861-864.

Templeton, E. L., & Rice, J. R. (2008). Off-fault plasticity and earthquake rupture dynamics: 1. Dry materials or neglect of fluid pressure changes. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 113(B9).

Thomas, A. M., Nadeau, R. M., & Bürgmann, R. (2009). Tremor-tide correlations and near-lithostatic pore pressure on the deep San Andreas fault. Nature, 462(7276), 1048-1051.

Thomas, A. M., Bürgmann, R., Shelly, D. R., Beeler, N. M., & Rudolph, M. L. (2012). Tidal triggering of low frequency earthquakes near Parkfield, California: Implications for fault mechanics within the brittle-ductile transition. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 117(B5).

Tobin, H. J., & Kinoshita, M. (2006). NanTroSEIZE: the IODP Nankai Trough seismogenic zone experiment. Scientific Drilling, 2, 23-27.

Tong, X., & Lavier, L. L. (2018). Simulation of slip transients and earthquakes in finite thickness shear zones with a plastic formulation. Nature Communications, 9(1), 1-8.

Toomey, D. R., Allen, R. M., Barclay, A. H., Bell, S. W., Bromirski, P. D., Carlson, R. L., ... & Forsyth, D. W. (2014). The Cascadia Initiative: A sea change in seismological studies of subduction zones. Oceanography, 27(2), 138-150.

Uchida, N., Iinuma, T., Nadeau, R. M., Bürgmann, R., & Hino, R. (2016). Periodic slow slip triggers megathrust zone earthquakes in northeastern Japan. Science, 351(6272), 488-492.

Ueda, K., Willett, S. D., Gerya, T., & Ruh, J. (2015). Geomorphological–thermo-mechanical modeling: Application to orogenic wedge dynamics. Tectonophysics, 659, 12-30.

Uyeda, S. (1982). Subduction zones: an introduction to comparative subductology. Tectonophysics, 81(3-4), 133-159.

Ulrich, T., Vater, S., Madden, E. H., Behrens, J., van Dinther, Y., Van Zelst, I., Fielding, E.J., Liang, C. & Gabriel, A. A. (2019). Coupled, physics-based modeling reveals earthquake displacements are critical to the 2018 Palu, Sulawesi Tsunami. Pure and Applied Geophysics, 176(10), 4069-4109.

Van den Ende, M. P. A., Chen, J., Ampuero, J. P., & Niemeijer, A. R. (2018). A comparison between rate-and-state friction and microphysical models, based on numerical simulations of fault slip. Tectonophysics, 733, 273-295.

van Dinther, Y., Gerya, T. V., Dalguer, L. A., Mai, P. M., Morra, G., & Giardini, D. (2013). The seismic cycle at subduction thrusts: Insights from seismo-thermo-mechanical models. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 118(12), 6183-6202.

van Keken, P. E., Hacker, B. R., Syracuse, E. M., & Abers, G. A. (2011). Subduction factory: 4. Depth-dependent flux of H2O from subducting slabs worldwide. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 116(B1).

van Rijsingen, E., Lallemand, S., Peyret, M., Arcay, D., Heuret, A., Funiciello, F., & Corbi, F. (2018). How subduction interface roughness influences the occurrence of large interplate earthquakes. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 19(8), 2342-2370.

von Huene, R., Ranero, C. R., & Vannucchi, P. (2004). Generic model of subduction erosion. Geology, 32(10), 913-916.

van Hunen, J., & Allen, M. B. (2011). Continental collision and slab break-off: A comparison of 3-D numerical models with observations. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 302(1-2), 27-37.

Van Zelst, I., Wollherr, S., Gabriel, A. A., Madden, E. H., & van Dinther, Y. (2019). Modeling megathrust earthquakes across scales: One-way coupling from geodynamics and seismic cycles to dynamic rupture. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 124(11), 11414-11446.

Villafuerte, C., & Cruz-Atienza, V. M. (2017). Insights into the causal relationship between slow slip and tectonic tremor in Guerrero, Mexico. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 122(8), 6642-6656.

Wada, I. & Karlstrom, L. (2020). Modeling fluid migration in subduction zones. EOS, 101.

Wada, I., & Wang, K. (2009). Common depth of slab-mantle decoupling: Reconciling diversity and uniformity of subduction zones. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 10(10).

Wada, I., Behn, M. D., & Shaw, A. M. (2012). Effects of heterogeneous hydration in the incoming plate, slab rehydration, and mantle wedge hydration on slab-derived H2O flux in subduction zones. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 353, 60-71.

Wada, I., He, J., Hasegawa, A., & Nakajima, J. (2015). Mantle wedge flow pattern and thermal structure in Northeast Japan: effects of oblique subduction and 3-D slab geometry. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 426, 76-88.

Wallace, L. M. (2020). Slow Slip Events in New Zealand. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, 48.

Wallace, L. M., Hreinsdóttir, S., Ellis, S., Hamling, I., D'Anastasio, E., & Denys, P. (2018). Triggered slow slip and afterslip on the southern Hikurangi subduction zone following the Kaikōura earthquake. Geophysical Research Letters, 45(10), 4710-4718.

Wallace, L. M., Ikari, M. J., Saffer, D. M., & Kitajima, H. (2019). Slow motion earthquakes. Oceanography, 32(1), 106-118.

Wang, K., & Bilek, S. L. (2011). Do subducting seamounts generate or stop large earthquakes?. Geology, 39(9), 819-822.

Wang, K., & Bilek, S. L. (2014). Invited review paper: Fault creep caused by subduction of rough seafloor relief. Tectonophysics, 610, 1-24.

Wang, K., & Hu, Y. (2006). Accretionary prisms in subduction earthquake cycles: The theory of dynamic Coulomb wedge. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 111(B6).

Wang, K., & Tréhu, A. M. (2016). Invited review paper: Some outstanding issues in the study of great megathrust earthquakes—The Cascadia example. Journal of Geodynamics, 98, 1-18.

Wang, K., Hu, Y., & He, J. (2012). Deformation cycles of subduction earthquakes in a viscoelastic Earth. Nature, 484(7394), 327-332.

Warren-Smith, E., Fry, B., Wallace, L., Chon, E., Henrys, S., Sheehan, A., ... & Lebedev, S. (2019). Episodic stress and fluid pressure cycling in subducting oceanic crust during slow slip. Nature Geoscience, 12(6), 475-481.

Wassmann, S., & Stoeckhert, B. (2013). Rheology of the plate interface—dissolution precipitation creep in high pressure metamorphic rocks. Tectonophysics, 608, 1-29.

Watts, A. B., Koppers, A. A., & Robinson, D. P. (2010). Seamount subduction and earthquakes. Oceanography, 23(1), 166-173.

Wesson, R. L., Melnick, D., Cisternas, M., Moreno, M., & Ely, L. L. (2015). Vertical deformation through a complete seismic cycle at Isla Santa Maria, Chile. Nature Geoscience, 8(7), 547-551.

Wiens, D. A., Conder, J. A., & Faul, U. H. (2008). The seismic structure and dynamics of the mantle wedge. Annu. Rev. Earth Planet. Sci., 36, 421-455.

Yabe, S., & Ide, S. (2017). Slip-behavior transitions of a heterogeneous linear fault. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 122(1), 387-410.

Yang, T., Gurnis, M., & Zhan, Z. (2017). Trench motion-controlled slab morphology and stress variations: Implications for the isolated 2015 Bonin Islands deep earthquake. Geophysical Research Letters, 44(13), 6641-6650.

Yokota, Y., & Koketsu, K. (2015). A very long-term transient event preceding the 2011 Tohoku earthquake. Nature communications, 6(1), 1-5.

Yoshioka, S., & Wortel, M. J. R. (1995). Three-dimensional numerical modeling of detachment of subducted lithosphere. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, 100(B10), 20223-20244.

Zhou, Q., Hu, J., Liu, L., Chaparro, T., Stegman, D. R., & Faccenda, M. (2018). Western US seismic anisotropy revealing complex mantle dynamics. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 500, 156-167.

Zhu, G., Gerya, T. V., Yuen, D. A., Honda, S., Yoshida, T., & Connolly, J. A. (2009). Three-dimensional dynamics of hydrous thermal-chemical plumes in oceanic subduction zones. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems, 10(11).

Zhu, W., Allison, K. L., Dunham, E. M., & Yang, Y. (2020). Fault valving and pore pressure evolution in simulations of earthquake sequences and aseismic slip. Nature Communications, 11, 4833.

Appendix: Detailed Workshop Information

Workshop Participation

The MCS RCN Megathrust Modeling Workshop was hosted at the University of Oregon on Oct 6-9, 2019, and organized by Amanda Thomas (Univ. of Oregon) and Eric Dunham (Stanford Univ.), with support from Gabriel Lotto and Thorsten Becker (UT Austin). It was attended in person by 107 people representing 59 institutions, from across North America, South America, Europe, Asia, and New Zealand. Of all in-person attendees, 25% were students, 34% were early career scientists (non-student), 21% were mid career scientists, and 20% were senior scientists. Broken down by gender, 64% identified as male and 36% as female. Of invited speakers who were not also conference organizers, 6 of 13 were female; of breakout group leaders and scribes, 12 of 24 were female. Workshop participants were invited to submit a brief introduction and photo prior to the workshop, and those introductions were compiled into an informal directory of biosketches, viewable here. The workshop was broadcasted online via Zoom and attended remotely by an additional 123 unique viewers, representing 24 countries.

The workshop featured three main sessions - *Sequences of Earthquakes and Aseismic Slip* (SEAS), *Dynamic Ruptures and Tsunamis* (DRT), and *Geodynamics and Surface Processes* (GSP) - plus an optional introductory session geared toward early career scientists and a concluding keynote address.



Word cloud of self-described research interests from potential participants, from the initial workshop application.

Workshop Sessions and Presentations

Besides the talks below, there was also an evening poster session featuring 42 poster presenters, listed <u>here</u>. Presentation slides are available <u>here</u>, and videos from several presentations are available <u>here</u>.

Early Career Session (Introductory Talks)

- Roland Bürgmann (UC Berkeley): "Slow slip, asperities and deformation"
- Eric Dunham (Stanford Univ.): "Megathrust rupture dynamics and tsunamis"
- Thorsten Becker (UT Austin): "A short introduction to subduction zone geodynamics"

Session 1: Sequences of Earthquakes and Aseismic Slip (SEAS)

- Victor Cruz-Atienza (UNAM): "Short-term interactions between silent and devastating earthquakes in Mexico"
- Camilla Cattania (Stanford Univ.): "Fracture mechanics insights into the earthquake cycle of seismic asperities"
- Jessica Hawthorne (Univ. of Oxford): "Can we constrain the fault zone processes that create slow earthquakes using few-minute subevents and atmospheric modulation?"
- John Platt (USC): "Geological expression of the seismic-aseismic transition along the subduction zone interface"

Session 2: Dynamic Ruptures and Tsunamis (DRT)

- Shuoshuo Han (UT Austin): "Links between sediment properties and megathrust slip behavior the North-Central Cascadia example"
- Shuo Ma (San Diego State Univ.): "Dynamic wedge failure and tsunamigenesis in the Japan Trench and Cascadia Subduction Zone"
- Alice Gabriel (LMU Munich): "Large-scale multi-physics earthquake and tsunami modeling"
- Tatsuhiko Saito (NIED): "Tsunami generation by megathrust earthquakes"

Session 3: Geodynamics and Surface Processes (GSP)

- Ylona van Dinther (Utrecht Univ.): "Cross-scale modeling of tectonics and earthquakes: its past, present, and future"
- Jean-Arthur Olive (ENS): "Non-recoverable deformation around partially-locked megathrusts"
- Judith Hubbard (Earth Observatory of Singapore): "The impact of megathrust geometry on earthquake ruptures and fault behavior"
- Noah Finnegan (UC Santa Cruz): "Long-term deformation of subduction margins is recorded in the morphology of the continental shelf"

Concluding Keynote

• Kelin Wang (Geological Survey of Canada): "The megathrust in 4D+"